# A MOLECULAR INVESTIGATION OF THE EFFECTS OF THE LOSS OF LINKER HISTONE H1 IN THE FILAMENTOUS FUNGUS NEUROSPORA CRASSA

by

MICHAEL JUSTIN SEYMOUR

(Under the Direction of Zachary Lewis)

## ABSTRACT

This study represents an initial investigation into the effects on chromatin structure and gene regulation of *N. crassa* following the deletion of the gene for the linker histone H1 (*hho*). This study concentrated on the use of high throughput sequencing techniques and the analysis of the resulting large data sets generated via mRNA-seq, ChIP-seq, and MNase-seq. Though no differential patterns of H1 occupancy were found, significant changes in the transcription rate of a small set of genes in the H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strain with accompanying changes in nucleosome stability in the NFR region of these genes indicates a role for H1 in gene regulation and the maintenance of chromatin structure in this organism.

INDEX WORDS:Linker histone H1, Neurospora crassa, transcriptional regulation,<br/>RNA, high throughput sequencing, microccocal nuclease<br/>digestion, chromatin immunoprecipitation, nucleosome

# A MOLECULAR INVESTIGATION OF THE EFFECTS OF THE LOSS OF LINKER HISTONE H1 IN THE FILAMENTOUS FUNGUS NEUROSPORA CRASSA

by

# MICHAEL JUSTIN SEYMOUR

B.S., Georgia Gwinnett College, 2011

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The University of Georgia in Partial

Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

ATHENS, GEORGIA

2014

© 2014

Michael Justin Seymour

All Rights Reserved

# A MOLECULAR INVESTIGATION OF THE EFFECTS OF THE LOSS OF LINKER HISTONE H1 IN THE FILAMENTOUS FUNGUS NEUROSPORA CRASSA

by

# MICHAEL JUSTIN SEYMOUR

Major Professor: Committee: Zachary Lewis Timothy Hoover Xiaoyu Zhang

Electronic Version Approved:

Julie Coffield Interim Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia August 2014

#### DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my family. To my loving wife Tracey, my two beautiful sons, Samuel and Maxwell, and to any children yet to come for giving me the drive and purpose needed to overcome so many obstacles. To my mother Geralyn who instilled in me a love of learning. To my brother Matthew for his steadfast loyalty and support through all the dark places in our lives. In memory of my grandparents, John and Shirley Seymour and Francis and Mildred Coyne, for the gift of their unconditional love and the joys of my childhood. To my in-laws Bruce and Gail, for accepting me into their family, their heartfelt advice, and their innumerable acts of kindness. To Erik, Kathy and Michael Britton for all their love, guidance, and moral support through all these many years. To all those not mentioned here in the past, present, and future: *Non mihi, non tibi, sed nobis* 

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Lewis for his guidance and support over the past three years. I would also like to thank the other members of my committee, Dr. Timothy Hoover and Dr. Xiaoyu Zhang. To all my lab-mates and the many friends I have made during my time here, thank you for sharing the frustrations, the successes, and the laughs.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page								
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv									
LIST OF TABLES									
LIST OF F	FIGURES ix								
CHAPTER	R								
1	INTRODUCTION1								
2	LITERATURE REVIEW								
	Early Epigenetic History								
	Chromatin Regulation4								
	Early Chromatin History5								
	Chromatin Structure								
	History of Neurospora crassa8								
	Histone H1 Gene Family and Chromatin Structure11								
	Objective of Thesis13								
3	MATERIALS AND METHODS14								
	Strains and Growth Conditions14								
	ChIP Sample Preparation15								
	mRNA Sample Preparation18								
	MNase Sample Preparation20								
	Library Preparation and Sequencing								

	Real Time Quantitative PCR	23
	Data Analysis	
4	RESULTS	
	RNA-Seq	
	ChIP-Seq	
	MNase-Seq	
5	DISCUSSION	48
6	REFERENCES	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Detailed PCR primer table	.24
Table 2: $\Delta hho$ transcriptional differences	.34

Page

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Histogram of Log 2 expression changes in mRNA-seq data set	32
Figure 2: Example of mRNA-seq expression differences on linkage group V	33
Figure 3: Examples of H1-ChIP occupancy of linkage group V	36
Figure 4: Example of MNase-seq read data at gene locus NCU01092	40
Figure 5: Differences in WT and $\Delta hho$ MNase digestion patterns	42
Figure 6: MNase-seq read levels in the mis-regulated mRNA gene set	44
Figure 7: Example of changes in MNase-seq reads levels in the NFR	46

## **CHAPTER 1**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Eukaryotic DNA is associated with various chromatin proteins, which include both histone and non-histone proteins. The basic unit of chromatin is the nucleosome, which consists of 146 bp of genomic DNA wrapped approximately twice around a core histone octamer (composed of two copies of each of the following histones: H2A, H2B, H3, H4) [1, 2]. The core histone octamer serves as a spool around which the DNA thread is wrapped. The DNA is then bound by the linker histone H1 as it enters and exits the nucleosome [3-5].

Histone H1, hereafter referred to as H1, is also known as the linker histone. H1 is a highly conserved and widely distributed member of the histone family of proteins [6, 7]. Unlike the core histones, H1 is not contained within the core nucleosome octamer, and there is only one copy of H1 per nucleosome [3-5]. H1 also has a different basic structure in comparison to the core histones [6, 7]. H1 is unique in terms of its binding and interaction with chromatin, and may serve to influence higher order chromatin compaction [3, 8-10]. Though current understanding of the structure and function of the core histone proteins is well advanced, knowledge of H1's function in chromatin regulation and higher order structure is currently limited.

To rectify this deficit, I have initiated an investigation of H1's role in chromatin structure and function by exploring its interactions with, and role in, chromatin structure and regulation in the filamentous fungus *Neurospora crassa*. *N. crassa* is a coenocytic, heterothallic, haploid organism that has a modest set of nutritional requirements [11]. In addition, unlike most other eukaryotic organisms, *N. crassa* has a single gene for H1 (*hho*) [12, 13]. Over the last century *N. crassa* has been widely used to study different aspects of eukaryotic biology, which has led to many great discoveries in genetics, cellular metabolism, and most recently epigenetics [14, 15]. As a result, a large body of literature and an expansive array of investigative techniques have been developed and optimized for use with *N. crassa*, making it an ideal candidate to serve as a platform for the study of H1.

The work presented in the following sections of this thesis focuses on the use of various molecular biological techniques to investigate the effects of knocking out the gene for H1 (*hho*) in *N. crassa* and comparing it to wild-type strain S1. The techniques focus on the collection of large sequencing data sets to take an in-depth look at changes effected in the transcriptome and changes in nucleosome spacing and occupancy on the genome as a result of this deletion.

### **CHAPTER 2**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

Histone H1, also known as the linker histone, is a highly conserved and widely distributed member of the histone family of proteins [6, 7, 16]. Unlike the core histones, H1 is not contained within the core histone octamer, but is present in only one copy per nucleosome [3-5]. H1 also has a different basic structure in comparison to the core histones [6, 7]. Histone H1 is unique in terms of its binding and interaction with chromatin, and may serve to influence higher order chromatin compaction [3, 8, 9]. Though current understanding of the structure and function of the core histone proteins is well advanced, our knowledge of H1's function in chromatin regulation and higher order structure is currently limited. To rectify this deficit, I have begun an investigation into H1's role in chromatin structure and regulation. However, before the specific problems of H1 can be addressed, it would be helpful to first put it into the context of an epigenetics background.

## **Early Epigenetics History**

The word epigenetics was first coined by the prominent embryologist Conrad Waddington, who broadly defined it as the unfolding of the genetic program for development [17-19]. It was not until much later in the last century that the modern definition of the term came to solidify, mainly around the writings of R. Holliday, who defined it as the study of the mechanisms of temporal and spatial control of gene activity during the development of complex organisms [20, 21]. Early studies of epigenetic phenomena included those of B. McClintock who studied "controlling elements" in maize [22], and J. Schultz who studied heterochromatin in Drosophila [23]. Later work by R. A. Brinks on the R locus in maize [24, 25], and M. Lyon's work on X chromosome inactivation in mammals [26], demonstrated the differences between epigenetic and genetic systems. However, no real molecular mechanisms of action were known at the time.

#### **Chromatin Regulation**

It was not until 1969 that the first real molecular mechanism was proposed to explain part of chromatin's regulatory control function. DNA methylation was first identified by Griffith and Mahler in 1969 as a possible candidate for a method of epigenetic control of gene expression, though they had no proposed specific molecular model [27]. It was not until 1975 that a molecular model for the control of gene activity through the methylation of cytosine was independently discovered by A. D. Riggs, and the team of R. Holliday and J. E. Pugh [28-30]. These models were based on the molecular activation / inactivation of regions of DNA by a sequence specific methylating enzymes that would function in a heritable fashion. Riggs specifically addressed X chromosome inactivation, while Holliday and Pugh mentioned the possibility of control by molecular clock mechanisms and the possibility of cytosine deamination as discussed in earlier papers by Scarano [31, 32]. These proposals were supported by further papers by R. Sager and R. Kitchin who proposed the enzymatic restriction of unmodified DNA in eukaryotic organisms [33]. Additional research indicated an important role for DNA methylation in DNA repair, mutation, and recombination in the prokaryote *E. coli* [34-39] and in eukaryotic systems [40, 41].

As focus intensified on DNA methylation as a means of epigenetic inheritance and control, a landmark paper in 1987 by R. Holliday laid the groundwork for the surge in epigenetic research in the 1990s [42]. Holliday argued that some non-Mendelian transgenerational effects may be due to the transmission of DNA methylation patterns (or lack thereof) in reproductive cells. He also coined the term "epimutation" to denote heritable changes that were not attributable to DNA sequence. Though continual discoveries have been made in the modification and regulations of DNA methylation since that time [43, 44], our focus must now turn to the parallel study of chromatin and the so-called Histone Code.

#### **Early Chromatin History**

Originally the term chromatin was not associated with epigenetics and long predates it. The term chromatin was first coined by W. Flemming in 1882, shortly after the discovery of nucleic acids based on the microscopic observations of dividing nuclei [45]. However, due to the limits of the microscopes and chemical techniques available at the time, not much more was done with chromatin until the middle of the 20th century. Even before the riddle of DNA's structure was solved in the 1950s, it was known that DNA associated with certain nuclear proteins in eukaryotic organisms [46, 47]. Investigations by D. Manzia and J. Schultz during the late 1930s and early 1940s had shown that nucleo-proteins were essential to chromosome structure [48, 49]. Over the course of the next few decades, very little progress was made in the study of chromatin structure, though certain basic structural riddles such as the  $\alpha$ -helix structure in proteins were solved during this period [50].

Even given these advances, very little was actually known about the role and function of chromatin and the histone proteins. An important pair of studies in the late 1960s discovered that posttranslational modifications of histones affected RNA transcription rates, but as yet no comprehensive model of chromatin structure had been proposed [51, 52]. It was not until the early 1970s that the techniques of low angle x-ray diffraction and electron microscopy were finally turned to the study of chromatin structure, leading to the first major model of chromatin structure, the super-helix [53-55]. While the initial super-helical model proved incorrect, it paved the way for the discovery of the nucleosome by A. Olins, D. Olins, and C. Woodcock in 1973 and its characterization as the basic unit of chromatin structure [1, 2, 56-59].

## **Chromatin Structure**

Since the 1970s our knowledge of chromatin structure has grown and a standard model of chromatin's basic unit, the nucleosome, has been refined and verified experimentally. The current model states that the DNA of all eukaryotic organisms associates with various chromatin proteins, which include both histone and non-histone proteins, resulting in the complex structure known as chromatin. The nucleosome is now known to consist of 146 bp of genomic DNA wrapped approximately twice around a core histone octamer. This histone octamer is composed of two copies each of the core histones H2A, H2B, H3, and H4 [1, 2, 58, 60].

The core histone proteins have a common central structure known as the histone fold, which consists of a long central helix bordered on both ends by a helix-strand-helix motif [57, 61]. Heterodimers of histone H3 and H4 form from their respective monomers due to hydrophobic interactions in a head to tail arrangement. Two of these H3 / H4 heterodimer subunits then further interact to form a tetramer consisting of two H3 and two H4 histone proteins. H2A and H2B interact in a similar fashion to form heterodimers, which are subsequently bound to either end of the histone H3 / H4 tetramer to complete the assembly of the histone octamer [1, 2, 8, 57, 58, 60-62].

This octamer is then semi-symmetrically wrapped by ~146bp of genomic DNA which completes approximately 1.6 full turns around histone octamer. This is akin to a thread (the DNA) wrapping around a spool (the histone octamer) to form the core nucleosome particle. The further binding of this complex by the linker histone H1 facilitates the compaction of higher order chromatin structures. Histone H1 binds the DNA as it enters and exits the nucleosome core particle to form a chromatosome [1, 3-5, 8, 61, 63].

Further compaction of chromatin through nucleosome interactions, histone modifications, and the association of other chromatin binding and modifying proteins have been shown to play an important role in gene regulation through the creation and maintenance of euchromatic (transcriptionally active) and heterochromatic (transcriptionally silent) chromatin domains [64, 65]. In most organisms these chromatin regions are marked by distinct patterns of histone <u>Post-T</u>ranslational <u>M</u>odifications (PTMs) [66, 67]. One widespread PTM is the methylation of histone N-terminal tails, though other PTMs such as acetylation and phosphorylation are also commonly seen [68, 69]. The resulting pattern of epigenetic marks is often referred to as the Histone Code, which is believed to serve as an additional layer of regulatory information above and beyond that encoded in the DNA [70]. The functions of the core histones and their modifications have become increasingly well understood over the last few decades. In contrast, the detailed functions of H1 are comparatively unknown and warrant further investigation [71, 72]. This thesis project initiates an investigation into the effects of deletion of the single H1 gene (*hho*) in the model organism *N. crassa*.

#### History of Neurospora crassa

*Neurospora crassa* is a filamentous fungus of the phylum Ascomycota (Ascomycetes) that was first noticed as a bread mold infestation in French bakeries in the 1840s [73], and is characterized by an easily recognizable asexual stage with bright orange asexual spores (conidia) [74]. Neurospora species are found throughout most tropical and subtropical areas of the world, as well as many temperate zones, especially in conjunction with agriculture and commerce. In the wild it is often one of the first colonizing species in areas of burned vegetation [75]. *N. crassa* is a coenocytic, heterothallic, haploid for most of its lifecycle, and has a modest set of nutritional requirements that have made it an ideal model organism for the study of eukaryotic biology over the course of the last century [11]. Study of this organism has led to many great discoveries in genetics, cellular metabolism, and most recently epigenetics [14, 15]. As a result, a large body of literature and an expansive array of investigative techniques have been developed and optimized for use with this organism, making it an ideal candidate to serve as a platform for the study of H1.

The first mention of the genus *Neurospora* in a scientific context began with the work of B. Dodge and C. Shear in 1927 though the species had been previously described under other names [73]. During the process of their investigation of bread mold fungi, Dodge and Shear christened the genus *Neurospora* and carefully reclassified the old species known as *Monila sitophila* into four new species under the names *N. sitophila*, *N. crassa*, *N. tetrasperma*, and *N. erythraea*. Their work described the characteristics of the genus' four species and, through the careful analysis of phenotype, mating patterns, and the tetrad analysis of ascospores, conclusively showed *N. crassa* to be a heterothallic species. This represents the first use of Neurospora in the context of genetic analysis, and resulted in the discovery of its two mating types and their perfect Mendelian 4:4 segregation pattern in the progeny [73].

This work was then built upon by C. C. Lindegren, who proceeded to establish the first detailed genetic maps of the species, characterized multiple mutant phenotypes, and helped to establish *N. crassa* as the textbook example of the segregation of alleles during meiosis in haploid organisms [76-78]. This work in turn led to that of G. Beadle and E. Tatum, who used Neurospora as their model for the exploration of the one gene-one enzyme hypothesis. They started by establishing a new methodology for the generation of mutants, ultimately leading to their famous paper in 1945, which supported the validity of the one gene-one enzyme hypothesis and established the link between genes and biochemical reactions [74, 79, 80]. This landmark work and its follow up investigations by N. H. Horowitz and U. Leupold [81-85] effectively started molecular biology and biochemical genetics in their modern forms. By clearly demonstrating the genetic foundation of cellular metabolism, and by establishing a versatile and thorough

methodology, this group of researchers opened the door for such investigations in other key model organisms such as the now ubiquitous *Escherichia coli* [86].

After the advent of the age of *E. coli*, Neurospora research shifted focus to those issues specifically related to eukaryotic and fungal biology, yielding many critical discoveries. Its versatility as a model organism was amply demonstrated over the last half of the 20th century with a long list of advances in our understanding of fungi, and eukaryotes in general. Important discoveries were made in translational and metabolic suppression [87-89], complementation [90, 91], coordinated control of unlinked genes [92-94], membrane transport mechanisms [95-100], mitochondrial descent and regulation [101-106], circadian rhythms and clock regulation `[107-116], vegetative incompatibility [117-119], and gene conversion [120, 121], to name a few.

More recently Neurospora has become one of the premier models for investigation into the epigenetic regulation of the eukaryotic genome. Neurospora has many advantages for use as a model system in epigenetic research, not the least of which is that its genome has been comprehensively sequenced, mapped and annotated [122], and that a comprehensive knockout library is available through the fungal genomics stock center [123-125]. Neurospora has been successfully used to elucidate complex epigenetic mechanisms such as Repeat Induced Methylation (RIP) [126-128], Meiotic Silencing by Unpaired DNA (MSUD) [129, 130], and Quelling [131, 132]. Additionally, many other elements of epigenetic control have been worked out in the organism, including research into the nature of centromeric DNA and repeats [133], the characterization of chromosome ends [134], and research into both DNA and histone methylation as a means of epigenetic control [135-140]. In light of these advances in the understanding of the epigenetic environment of *N. crassa*, I believe that this organism will serve as an excellent model to use in this project.

#### **Histone H1 Gene Family and Chromatin Structure**

H1 is present in most eukaryotic cells studied to date [141-143], and in most organisms, the structure of H1 is highly conserved [6, 7]. Unfortunately, it has been difficult to determine the in vivo functions of H1 for a number of reasons. H1 appears to be essential for viability in metazoans, and the existence of multiple H1 variants complicates in vivo analysis of these proteins in higher eukaryotes [144, 145]. For example, humans encode 11 known H1 variants, consisting of eight genetic and three splicing variants [145]. Some common microbial model organisms such as the budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and the protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila* possess single H1 homologs, however, these organisms encode H1 proteins with non-canonical structures [141, 146-148]. Other potential eukaryotic model organisms like *Mus musculus* and *Arabidopsis thaliana* possesses canonical H1 proteins, but contain multiple genes and splicing variants that could overcomplicate analysis of H1 interactions [149-154].

In contrast, *N. crassa* has only a single H1 gene (*hho*) with no known splicing variants and has been shown to be dispensable for viability [13, 155]. It is also important to note that the H1 protein found in *N. crassa* is predicted to match the standard canonical H1 structure with an N-terminal tail, central winged helix globular domain, and a long positively charged C-terminal domain [12, 156]. These unique features will allow for valid loss-of-function studies on H1 to be conducted in vivo that may serve to identify unknown interactions or mechanisms of H1 regulation and function. Furthermore, as

established above, *N. crassa* is a well-established model system with a diverse array of available resources [157, 158]. Although H1 has been difficult to study, it is thought to play an important role in chromatin compaction [159], and some evidence exists for its role in transcriptional regulation [9, 12, 160, 161]. However, much of what is known about H1's structural role stems from early studies conducted in vitro [162-164]. H1's exact functions in vivo are still not completely understood and the ability to study the effects of its absence in *N. crassa* should prove extremely valuable [145, 150].

In addition to existing in multiple copies and variants, previous studies have shown that H1 can undergo a variety of PTMs in a manner similar to the core histones [145, 165, 166]. Though many of these PTMs have no known function, they may serve to alter H1's chromatin-binding affinity or its interaction with other chromatin binding proteins, in a manner similar to the PTMs of the core histone proteins [66, 141, 145]. H1 has previously been demonstrated to bind dynamically to chromatin, jumping on and off nucleosomes with a residence time ranging from 45 seconds to as much as 3 minutes [167, 168]. There is also evidence H1 competes with other non-histone chromatin proteins, such as <u>High Mobility G</u>roup (HMG) proteins and PARP-1, for chromatin residency [169-171]. PTMs of H1 could serve to inhibit or enhance these binding and competitive functions.

The exact mechanisms of histone H1's interaction with the core histone proteins and its method of interaction with linker DNA are also inadequately defined, as is its role in higher order chromatin compaction [159, 172-174]. Previous studies indicate that H1 may initially bind to the linker DNA between nucleosomes through an ionic interaction between H1's positively charged C-terminal tail and the negatively charged linker DNA [175, 176]. Though H1 has been shown to induce compaction in isolated chromatin *in vitro* [162], its exact role in chromatin compaction and structural regulation in vivo is not fully understood [150, 177]. There is also relatively little known about H1's specific protein-protein interactions within the cell. The core histones are known to interact with chaperone proteins [178-180], PTM enzymes [66, 181], chromatin remodelers [182], and other chromatin binding proteins [183], however, H1's role in these types of interactions are not yet fully understood [184, 185].

## **Objective of Thesis**

The work presented in the following sections of this paper will focus on establishing *N. crassa* as a strong model organism for the investigation of histone H1 that will provide insights into the function and role of H1 in the regulation of chromatin in higher eukaryotic organisms [186]. Experiments will focus on studying the effects of the lost of the H1 gene (*hho*) in *N. crassa* through the collection of large sequencing data sets via a variety of molecular biological techniques. This should serve to provide a baseline of knowledge about H1's possible metabolic and structural roles that can serve as a firm foundation for later more detailed experiments in *N. crassa*.

## **CHAPTER 3**

## **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Strains and Growth Conditions**

Wild-type strain S1 (FGSC #4200) and strain  $\Delta hho$  ( $\Delta$  Histone H1 mutant) (FGSC #12224) were obtained from the Fungal Genomics Stock Center Collection [123-125]. Lab Strain LX-44-5 (3x FLAG tagged *hho*) was developed using established techniques by Dr. Lewis (Lewis Unpublished) [157].

*Neurospora crassa* cultures were grown in an incubator at 32°C in solid or liquid Vogel's minimal medium (VMM) with 2% sucrose according to established procedure unless otherwise noted [187]. Liquid cultures were shaken at 150 rpm during growth, while solid culture media were not agitated but were amended with the addition of 1% agar before inoculation unless otherwise noted [187].

Preparation of conidial suspensions was done according to established procedure unless otherwise noted [187]. 25 ml of sterile de-ionized filtered water was added to the desired culture grown on solid media (see above) after at least 6 days of growth with a minimum of 24 hour light exposure. Cultures were then vortexed vigorously to suspend conidia. The resulting supernatant was then filtered through sterile cheesecloth to remove loose agar and mycelia. The resulting filtrate was then poured into a 50 ml Falcon Tube and centrifuged @ 3000 rpm for 10 minutes in swinging bucket centrifuge. The supernatant was then carefully pipetted off and discarded. Conidia were then resuspended by bringing volume up to 5 ml with sterile filtered de-ionized water, vortexed, and conidial concentration calculated through the use of a hemocytometer.

#### **ChIP Sample Preparation**

ChIP-seq experiments were conducted to determine H1's occupancy on the genome of N. crassa. Seven day stock cultures of strain LX-44-5 (3x FLAG tagged hho, see above) were grown on solid media at 32°C and allowed to conidiate in sunlight for 24 hours, after which a conidial suspension was prepared according to established procedures (see above). Conidial suspensions were used to inoculate 50 ml of liquid media (2% Glucose, 1X Vogel's salts), with  $5 \times 10^6$  conidia per milliliter of media inoculated. Samples were allowed to grow for 5 hours at 32°C at 180 rpm. After incubation germinated conidia (germlings) were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes to collect cells and the supernatant discarded. Germlings were washed once with 40 ml of 1X PBS, centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes and the supernatant discarded. Germlings were then re-suspended in 10 ml of 1X PBS and chemically cross-linked with formaldehyde (1% final concentration) on a rotating platform for 30 minutes at room temperature, after which the reaction was quenched with glycine (125 mM final concentration). Conidia were then washed twice with 40 ml of 1X PBS, collected by centrifugation as above, and re-suspended in 1 ml of ice cold ChIP lysis buffer (50 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 140 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton-X 100, 0.1% deoxycholate) with protease inhibitors (final concentrations of 0.1 mM PMSF, 1X Pepstatin, and 1X Leupeptin).

The resulting samples were then split into two equal aliquots in 1.5 ml epi-tubes and placed on ice. Chromatin was mechanically sheared by sonication using an Ultra Sonic processor (Heat System-Ultrasonics Inc; 80 duty cycle, 3.5 output) to deliver 6 sets of pulses (30 pulses, 1 second duration per pulse). Samples were allowed to rest on ice for at least 2 minutes between each pulse set. The resulting lysates were then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatants of each split sample were then carefully pipetted off and recombined into a single sample. From this re-combined sample a 20 µl aliquot was pipetted off and saved at -20°C in a 1.5 ml epi-tube for later use (input sample). The combined samples were then pipetted into a number of aliquots equal to one more than the number of antibodies to be used (# of AB + 1 negative control) in 1.5 ml epi-tubes. Each aliquot then had 20 µl of equilibrated protein A/G PLUS-agarose beads (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., CA Cat #SC-2003) and its relevant antibody added as required. For the H1-ChIP experiments 1 μl of α-H1 antibody (Sigma Aldrich, MO Cat #F3165) was added, for H3-ChIP experiments 1  $\mu$ l of  $\alpha$ -H3 antibody (Abcam, MA Cat #AB1791) was added, and for Pol II-ChIP experiments 1  $\mu$ l of  $\alpha$ -Pol II antibody (Covance, NJ Cat #MMS-126R) was added. Samples were then incubated overnight at 4°C with rotation.

After overnight incubation samples were centrifuged at 5000 rpm for one minute, and the supernatant carefully pipetted off and discarded. Samples then underwent a series of ice cold washes. Samples were washed twice with 1 ml of ChIP lysis buffer w/o protease inhibitors (50mM HEPES pH 7.5, 140mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 1% triton X-100, 1% deoxycholate ), once with 1 ml of ChIP lysis buffer containing 500 mM NaCl, once with 1 ml of LiCl wash buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH8.0, 250 mM LiCl, 0.1% IGEPAL CA-630, and 0.1% deoxycholate), and finally with 1 ml of TE buffer (10 mM Tris- HCl, 1 mM EDTA). After each wash step samples were centrifuged at 5000 rpm for one minute, and the supernatant carefully pipetted off and discarded. After the final wash, bound chromatin was then eluted in 62.5 μl of TES (50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 10 mM EDTA, 1% SDS) at 65°C for 10 minutes, centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 1 minute, and the supernatant pipetted off and saved in a new 1.5 ml epi-tube (repeated once for a total combined elution volume of 125 μl). Eluted chromatin samples were then de-cross-linked overnight at 65°C.

After overnight de-cross-linking samples were brought to a total volume 250  $\mu$ l with sterile water and treated with 2.5  $\mu$ l of 10 mg/ml ribonuclease A (Fisher Scientific, MA Cat #BP2539-250) for 2 hours at 50°C. Samples were then treated with 6.25  $\mu$ l of 20mg/ml proteinase K (Fisher Scientific, MA Cat #BP1700-100) for 2 hours at 50°C. DNA was then extracted by adding 250  $\mu$ l of phenol/chloroform/IAA (25:24:1) after which the samples were vigorously vortexed. Samples were then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 14,000 rpm and the aqueous portion carefully pipetted off and placed in a new 1.5 ml epi-tube. To the isolated aqueous samples was added 250  $\mu$ l of pure chloroform and the samples were vigorously vortexed. Samples were then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 14,000 rpm and the aqueous portion carefully pipetted off and placed in a new 1.5 ml epi-tube. Each sample then had 1  $\mu$ l glycogen (Ambion, MA Cat #AM9510), 32.5  $\mu$ l of 3M sodium acetate pH 5.2, and 1124.5  $\mu$ l of 100% EtOH added after which they were allowed to precipitate overnight in a -20°C freezer.

Following overnight precipitation, samples were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 14,000 rpm and the supernatant carefully pipetted off and discarded. Samples were then

washed with 300  $\mu$ l of 70% EtOH and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 14,000 rpm, after which the supernatant was carefully pipetted off and discarded. Washed samples were dried under vacuum and re-suspended in 25  $\mu$ l TE buffer and stored at -20°C until needed for library preparation [187, 188].

#### **mRNA Sample Preparation**

RNA-Seq was performed to investigate transcriptional changes between the S-1 (Wild Type) and  $\Delta hho$  (see above) strains. To accomplish this, 7 day stock cultures of these strains were grown on solid media at 32°C and allowed to conidiate for 24 hours in sunlight, after which a conidial suspension was prepared according to established procedures (see above) [187, 188]. Conidial suspensions were then used to inoculate 500 ml liquid media (2% Glucose, 1X Vogel's salts or 2% EtOH, 2% glucose, 1X Vogel's salts) with  $5x10^6$  conidia per milliliter of media inoculated. Samples were then allowed to grow for 6 hours at 32°C at 180 rpm.

After growth cultures were removed and mycelia isolated through the use of a Buchner funnel and #1 filter paper under vacuum. Cultures were slowly poured onto fresh filter paper and allowed to dry, after which the resulting dried mycelia mat was removed with sterile tweezers and immediately placed in liquid nitrogen to flash freeze. The Buchner funnel was wiped down with sterile H<sub>2</sub>O followed by 95% EtOH after each replicate. After flash freezing, the mycelial mat was ground to a fine powder in liquid nitrogen using a mortar and pestle, taking care not to allow all the nitrogen to boil off completely. Ground samples were then poured into sterile 50 ml falcon tubes cooled in liquid nitrogen. The nitrogen in the samples was then allowed to slowly boil off and while the tubes remained immersed in liquid nitrogen, after which the tubes were capped and placed in the -80°C freezer until needed.

To prepare total RNA, ground mycelia samples were retrieved from the  $-80^{\circ}$ C freezer and immediately placed in a bath of liquid nitrogen on the bench to prevent thawing. All of the following reagents were prepared with RNase free components and all equipment and consumables were unopened from distributor or heat treated and sealed until use to prevent RNase contamination unless otherwise noted. New sterile RNase free 1.5 ml epi-tubes were pre-loaded with 500  $\mu$ l of lysis buffer (final concentrations of 0.1M NaOAc, 1mM EDTA, 4% sodium dodecyl sulfate in RNase free water), and using a sterile RNase free spatula cooled in liquid nitrogen, small aliquots from the appropriate samples of frozen mycelial powder were loaded into each tube, one powdered sample per epi-tube. All samples were then vortexed vigorously and 500 µl of acid phenol/chloroform/IAA (125:24:1) pH 4.5 (Ambion, MA Cat #AM9720) was added while in the fume hood. Samples were again vortexed vigorously after which they were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 14,000 rpm to pellet cell debris. The aqueous portion of the samples were then carefully pipetted off and transferred to new RNase free 1.5 ml epitubes. This acid phenol/ chloroform/ IAA extraction was repeated an additional 3 times for a total of 4 washes. After all 4 washes were complete the final aqueous samples had 750 µl of 100% EtOH and 30 µl of Sodium Acetate (pH 5.2) added. The samples were then vortexed vigorously and placed in the -20°C freezer to precipitate overnight.

Precipitated samples were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 14,000 rpm and the supernatant carefully pipetted off and discarded. Samples were then washed with 300 µl of 70% EtOH and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 14,000 rpm after which the supernatant

19

was carefully pipetted off and discarded. Washed samples were then dried under vacuum and re-suspended in 50 µl of RNase Free water and stored at -20°C [189, 190] until needed. From the total RNA sample, mRNA was isolated with a Qiagen Oligotex® poly A+ isolation kit (Qiagen, MD Cat #70022). The resulting mRNA samples were then stored at -20°C until needed for library construction.

#### **MNase Sample Preparation**

MNASE-seq was performed to investigate nucleosome occupancy of the genome in the S1 (Wild Type) and  $\Delta hho$  (see above) strains. To accomplish this, 7 day stock cultures were grown on solid media at 32°C and allowed to conidiate in sunlight for 24 hours, after which conidial suspensions for strains S-1 and  $\Delta hho$  were prepared according to established procedures (see above) [187, 188]. Conidial suspensions were then used to inoculate 50 ml liquid cultures (2% glucose, 1x Vogel's salts) with  $5 \times 10^6$  conidia per milliliter of media inoculated. Samples were then allowed to germinate for 5 hours in a 32°C shaker at 200 rpm. After incubation germinated conidia (germlings) were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes to collect cells and the supernatant discarded. Germlings were washed once with 40 ml of 1X PBS, centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes and the supernatant discarded. Germlings were then re-suspended in 10 ml of 1X PBS and chemically cross linked with formaldehyde (1% final concentration) on a rotating platform for 30 minutes at room temperature after which the reaction was quenched with glycine (125 mM final concentration). Conidia were then washed twice with 40 ml of 1X PBS, collected by centrifugation as above, and re-suspended in 1 ml of ice cold NPS buffer with CaCl<sub>2</sub> (50 mM HEPES-KOH, pH 7.5, 140 mM NaCl, 5 mM

MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 1% Triton-X 100, 0.1% deoxycholate, 0.5 mM Spermidine) with protease inhibitors (final concentrations of 0.1 mM PMSF, 1X Pepstatin (Sigma Aldrich, MO Cat #P5318) and 1X Leupeptin (Sigma Aldrich, MO Cat #L9783)).

The resulting Lysates were then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatants of each split sample were carefully pipetted off and discarded and the cell pellets re-suspended in 500  $\mu$ l of NPS buffer with CaCl<sub>2</sub> and protease inhibitors (see above). The re-suspended samples were then transferred to a new 15 mL Falcon tube and brought to 6 ml volume with additional NPS buffer with CaCl<sub>2</sub> and protease inhibitors (see above) and placed on ice. The samples were then pipetted into 8 equal 700  $\mu$ l aliquots in 1.5 ml epi-tubes and placed on ice. Aliquoted samples were then treated with 0.1  $\mu$ l of Takara Micrococcal Nuclease (Takara, CA Cat #2910A) and placed in 37°C incubator at 200 rpm for varying time intervals (0, 1, 5, 10, 20, 40, 60, 90 and 120 minutes). MNase reactions were stopped by the addition of EDTA and NaCl (final concentration of 10mM and 125mM respectively) after which the samples were de-cross-linked by overnight incubation at 65°C.

After overnight de-cros- linking samples were treated with the addition of 2.5  $\mu$ l of 10 mg/ml ribonuclease A (Fisher Scientific, MA Cat # BP2539-250) and incubated at 50°C for 2 hours. Samples were then treated with the addition of 6.25  $\mu$ l 20 mg/ml proteinase K (Fisher Scientific, MA Cat #BP1700-100) and 10  $\mu$ l of 10% SDS and incubated at 65°C for 2 hours. DNA was then extracted by adding 650  $\mu$ l of phenol/chloroform/IAA (25:24:1) after which the samples were vigorously vortexed. Samples were then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 14,000 rpm and the aqueous portion carefully pipetted off and placed in a new 1.5 ml epi-tube. To each isolated aqueous

sample was then added 650  $\mu$ l of pure chloroform, and the samples were vigorously vortexed. Samples were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 14,000 rpm and the aqueous portion carefully pipetted off and placed in new 1.5 ml epi-tubes. Samples were split into two equal volumes in new 1.5 ml epi-tubes, and 1  $\mu$ l glycogen (Ambion, MA Cat #AM9510), 32.5  $\mu$ l 3M Sodium Acetate pH 5.2, and 1124.5  $\mu$ l of 100% EtOH was added to each half sample after which they were allowed to precipitate overnight in a -20°C freezer.

After overnight precipitation samples were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 14,000 rpm and the supernatant carefully pipetted off and discarded. Samples were then washed with 300  $\mu$ l of 70% EtOH and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 14,000 rpm after which the supernatant was carefully pipetted off and discarded. Washed samples were dried under vacuum and re-suspended in 25  $\mu$ l TE buffer and stored at -20°C until needed for library preparation [11, 191, 192].

Before sequencing, the digestion of samples were visualized on a 2% agarose gel. Gel bands corresponding to single and double nucleosome fragments were isolated and purified using a Qiagen QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen, MD Cat #28704). Purified samples were then stored at -20°C until needed for library preparation.

#### Library Preparation and Sequencing

RNA libraries were created using the mRNA samples prepared as detailed above. Libraries were prepared using the Illumina TruSeq® RNA sequencing kit (Illumina: San Diego, CA). Final pooled library samples were sent to the University of Missouri Sequencing Core and sequenced on an Illumina HiSeq 2000. DNA libraries were created using the ChIP and MNase samples prepared as detailed above. Libraries were prepared using the Illumina TruSeq® DNA sequencing kit (Illumina: San Diego, CA Cat #FC-121-2002). For ChIP samples genomic DNA adaptors were diluted 1:100 before use in library creation. Final pooled library samples were sent to the Oregon State University CGRB Core Laboratories Sequencing Facility for sequencing on an Illumina HiSeq 2000.

#### **Real Time Quantitative PCR**

Sequencing results for the H1-ChIP samples were confirmed by qPCR according to established procedures [188]. Primers used in qPCR are listed in Table 1. PCR samples were prepared with iTaq Universal SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad, CA Cat # 172-5121) and 1  $\mu$ l of diluted ChIP DNA (1:100) on a Bio-Rad iCycler IQ platform (Bio-Rad, CA). Statistical Analyses were performed in Microsoft Excel. **Table 1. Detailed PCR primer table.** This table shows the primers used for qPCR

 confirmation of the H1 ChIP-seq data sets. Primers are listed by gene locus targeted and

 its linkage group. Additional details such as amplicon size, melt temp, and percent GC

 content are also provided.

Gene Locus	Contig	Primer Set	Amplicon Size	Gene Region	5' Primer	GC content	Melt Temp °C	3' Primer	GC Content	Melt Temp °C
NCU00554	1									
up in ⊿hho		NCU00 554-2	92bp	5'UTR	ACACGAGTGCATCA CAGCTC	55.0%	60.1	TGCCTCTCACAGA TGAGTCG	55.0%	60.1
		NCU00 554-3	108bp	CDS	AATGTCGTGCCCTT CATTTC	45.0%	59.9	CTGCTTCTGGTCC TCAAAGG	55.0%	60.0
		NCU00 554-5	148bp	3'UTR	CCCTCGCTACTGAC CCATAA	55.0%	60.1	ACTGCGAATTTCC ATGTTCC	45.0%	59.9
NCU09909	1									
down in <i>hho</i>		NCU09 909-2	123bp	5'UTR	GAAAGACTCGAACC CCATGA	50.0%	60.0	CCGTTAACTTCCC CACTTCA	50.0%	60.0
		NCU09 909-4	96bp	CDS	AGAGGGAGATGGA GGAGGAG	60.0%	59.8	AGAGGATCAGGA GGGCTAGG	60.0%	59.8
		NCU09 909-5	110bp	3' UTR	CGCCTCTCCTTCCTA GAGGT	60.0%	60.0	AGTCCAAATGGA AAGCATGG	45.0%	59.9
NCU03561	5									
up in <i>∆hho</i>		NCU03 651-1	121bp	5'UTR	TTGAAGGACGAGAG GTTGCT	55.0%	59.0	TGAGCGTTTTCAG CATATGG		

Gene Locus	Contig	Primer Set	Amplicon Size	Gene Region	5' Primer	GC content	Melt Temp °C	3' Primer	GC Content	Melt Temp °C
		NCU03 651-3	141bp	CDS	GCAAGTTCGTCTCC CTCTTC	55.0%	59.0	CAAAGGCGTTCTC AAAGTCC	50.0%	59.0
		NCU03 651-6	134bp	3'UTR	GTGCAGCAGCACAT TGATCT	50.0%	60.0	CCAAACATTGGA GGGGAGTA	50.0%	59.8
NCU05948	6									
up in <i>∆hho</i>		NCU05 948-1	108bp	5'UTR	TCTAGGGACCAGGG ATGATG	55.0%	59.9	ATGCGGTTATCCT TCGATCA	55.0%	60.4
		NCU05 948-4	122bp	CDS	ACTACGCAAGATGG CAGAGG	55.0%	60.4	CCCTCCACAGCTC TTGAATC	55.0%	59.8
		NCU05 948-6	108bp	3'UTR	CAGAGCCACCAAAC TTCACA	50.0%	59.9	GCAGGCAACTAG GCAGTTCT	55.0%	59.6
NCU02654	1									
down in ⊿hho		NCU02 654-1	148bp	5'UTR	ACAACTTGTTCCCC AAGACG	50.0%	60.0	TGTGTGTGTTGGGGA GGTGATA	50.0%	59.8
		NCU02 654-4	120bp	CDS	TCTTCATCCCCGAG TTCATC	50.0%	60.0	CAGACTCGGCTTG GAGAGAC	60.0%	60.1
		NCU02 654-5	116bp	3'UTR	TCAGCCTGTCTCAG AAAGCA	50.0%	59.9	GGCTCGGTAGTCA ACGGTAA	55.0%	60.1
Gene Locus	Contig	Primer Set	Amplicon Size	Gene Region	5' Primer	GC content	Melt Temp °C	3' Primer	GC Content	Melt Temp °C
-----------------	--------	----------------	------------------	----------------	--------------------------	---------------	--------------------	--------------------------	---------------	--------------------
NCU08739	2									
down in ⊿hho		NCU08 739-1	127bp	5'UTR	CCCTGCAACTTCGA ACAGAT	50.0%	60.3	TGGCTCGATGGAT AGGTAGG	55.0%	60.1
		NCU08 739-3	150bp	CDS	TCTGGGTCTTCTCCA ACTCC	55.0%	59.2	GATAGACCTGGCC CTTGGAT	55.0%	60.3
		NCU08 739-5	123bp	3'UTR	GAAAAGCCGTAGGA GCCTCT	55.0%	60.0	GCAGGAACAGAC AAGGAAGG	55.0%	59.8
NCU04173	5									
Tubulin		Tubuli n-1	119bp	CDS	ACTACGCCCGTGGT CACTAT	50.0%	60.2	AGGACTACGCCA AGAAGTGC	60.0%	60.7
Control		Tubuli n-2	110bp	CDS	TCCATGTTGTCCAA CACCAC	50.0%	60.3	ATACCCTCACCGA CGTACCA	55.0%	60.3

## **Data Analysis**

ChIP-seq: Data sets were first mapped to the reference genome [13] and were then analyzed for differences in read levels across the genome using the Tuxedo suite of sequencing analysis programs [193]. These programs were utilized through the Galaxy web interface and servers [194-196]. Subsequent analysis was performed by visual inspection of elements with the IGV viewer [197, 198], and pre-processing of data was done in Perl for use in statistical analysis with R (Alexander Matte Santos, Unpublished) [199].

RNA-seq: Data sets were first mapped to the reference genome [13] and were then analyzed for differences in transcript levels across the genome using the Tuxedo suite of sequencing analysis programs [193]. These programs were utilized through the Galaxy web interface and servers [194-196], and preliminary results were stringently screened to minimize the chance of false positives. To do this, transcriptional differences among samples were normalized and a comparison done by FPKM (Fragments Per Kilobase of transcript per Million mapped reads) and log 2 values. In addition, only those genes with at least a log 2 or greater difference in transcript expression levels were accepted as positive hits. Gene transcript functional categories were assigned according to the annotations found on the *N. crassa* database [13]. Subsequent analysis was performed by visual inspection of elements with the IGV viewer [197, 198], preprocessing of data was done in perl for use in statistical analysis with R (Alexander Matte Santos, Unpublished) [199].

MNase-seq: Data sets were first mapped to the reference genome [13] and were then analyzed for differences in read levels across the genome using the Tuxedo suite of sequencing analysis programs [193]. These programs were utilized through the Galaxy web interface and servers [194-196]. Subsequent analysis was performed by visual inspection of elements with the IGV viewer [197, 198], pre-processing of data was done in perl for use in statistical analysis with R (Alexander Matte Santos, Unpublished) [199].

# **CHAPTER 4**

## RESULTS

# **RNA-Seq**

Deletion of H1 results in the mis-regulation of a small subset of genes in N. crassa. Histone H1 is believed to play a direct role in the regulation of some genes in eukaryotic organisms. This is supported by previous studies that have examined the effects of H1 depletion in the cell, and found small subsets of mis-regulated genes [150, 151, 200]. H1 has also previously been reported to specifically regulate the expression of one gene in *N. crassa* in response to changing environmental conditions [12]. In animals, a preliminary study has indicated that H1 may play a role in the activation of apoptotic pathways [201], and two more recent studies have also shown transcriptional changes arising from H1 depletion, including broad changes to hox gene expression in mice [202], and to CHD8 modulated repression of Wnt-β-catenin transcription in HeLa cells [203]. It is not clear if this is because H1 exhibits only a limited impact on transcription, despite its almost ubiquitous presence in chromatin, or if the knockdown studies failed to achieve sufficient depletion of H1. To investigate H1's role on transcriptional regulation in N. crassa, global transcriptional changes induced by the loss of histone H1 was investigated by mRNA-sequencing. This was done in both the WT (S1) and the H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strains.

As a result of these experiments we have identified a subset of genes whose transcript levels are affected by the loss of H1. All genes in this subset have altered mRNA transcript levels, resulting in either an up-, or down-regulation in the deletion mutant ( $\Delta hho$ ) by a minimum log 2 value as seen in Figure 1. An example of this expression change for an individual gene locus can be seen in Figure 2. Additional analysis will be required to determine if this subset of genes appear to have any general metabolic character, as the effected genes are spread across a wide variety of metabolic functions based on preliminary identification by current annotations as shown in Table 2. Figure 1: Histogram of Log 2 expression changes in mRNA-seq data set. The histogram shows all the log 2 transcript levels found in the data set for the WT (S1) strain in the mRNA-seq study as plotted in R (Alexander Matte Santos, unpublished) [199]. The X axis shows log 2 transcript levels, and the Y axis shows frequency of genes that have a specific log 2 transcript level value. The expression values for all genes are shown in grey, those genes up-regulated in  $\Delta hho$  are shown in red, and those down-regulated in  $\Delta hho$  are shown in blue.



**Figure 2: Example of mRNA-seq expression differences on linkage group V.** This figure shows a visualization of mRNA transcript expression differences between the WT (S-1, blue) and H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ , red) strains at an example locus on Linkage Group V as visualized on IGV viewer [204]. The X axis shows a plot of Linkage group V with genes annotated at the bottom, while the Y axis represents relative read number in the mRNA data set. Brown boxes denote gene loci with no significant difference in transcript levels. The red box indicates a gene found to be down regulated in the deletion strain ( $\Delta hho$ ). The blue box indicates a gene up-regulated in the deletion strain ( $\Delta hho$ ).



**Table 2:**  $\Delta hho$  transcriptional differences. Metabolic pathways found to contain genes differentially expressed in the H1 deletion mutant ( $\Delta hho$ ) of *N. crassa*. This table shows the total number of genes found to be mis-regulated in expression level in the mRNA-seq data set by metabolic category.

Metabolic pathway of affected genes	Increased expression in ⊿hho	Decreased expression in ⊿hho		
Amino Acid Biosynthesis	14	3		
Cell Wall / Membrane Maintenance	0	4		
Cell Wall / Membrane Transport	0	6		
Energy Cycling	0	7		
Histone Biosynthesis	1	0		
Light Response	0	1		
Lipid Metabolism	3	2		
Nucleotide Metabolism	3	2		
Mitochondrial DNA maintenance	1	0		
Protein metabolism	2	3		
Ribosome Biogenesis	2	0		
Secondary Metabolite Synthesis	0	3		
Sexual Reproduction	0	1		
Sugar Metabolism	0	10		
Possible Virulence Factor	1	4		
Unknown gene function	18	57		
Total	44	104		

# ChIP-Seq

H1 occupancy of chromatin in *N. crassa* appears to be global, with no statistically significant differences in occupancy across both euchromatin and heterochromatin regions. As described above, chromatin and the core histones have been shown to regulate gene activity. This is due to the character of the chromatin region in which a gene locus is found (heterochromatic vs. euchromatic) and to the PTMs found on the core histone proteins at a given locus [64, 65]. Extensive studies have been done on the core histones, and early research on histone H1 indicates that it also plays a role in the regulation of both chromatin compaction and higher-order chromatin structures [66, 141, 145]. Since the core histories exhibit a highly regulated pattern of chromatin occupancy, it is reasonable to expect the same of H1. Since H1 binds genomic DNA where it enters and exits the nucleosome, it may play a role in regulating linker DNA length and nucleosome stability [1, 3-5, 8, 61, 63]. To investigate H1's distribution and any possible occupancy pattern on the genome of N. crassa a series of ChIP-seq studies were conducted. These experiments were done in the 3X FLAG-tagged H1 mutant strain LX-44-5 (Lewis, unpublished)

As a result of these experiments it was discovered that H1 has no specific pattern of occupancy on the *N. crassa* genome, and instead appears to be distributed globally with no statistical difference between euchromatic and heterochromatic regions. This is also true for individual gene loci, where there appears to be no difference in H1 occupancy across the UTRs or CDS as seen in Figure 3. Confirmation of these data was done by qPCR of ChIP-seq samples targeting genes found to be mis-regulated in the mRNA data sets (data not shown). **Figure 3: Examples of H1-ChIP occupancy of linkage group V.** This figure shows a visualization of H1 ChIP-seq reads in the 3xFLAG tagged H1 (LX-44-5) strain at two different loci on Linkage Groups V as visualized in IGV viewer [204]. The X axis shows a plot of Linkage group V with genes annotated at the bottom, while the Y axis represents relative read number in the H1 ChIP-seq data set. The top section (A) shows two independent biological replicates (blue and green) for the area around NCU03610. The bottom section (B) shows two independent biological replicates (blue and green) for the area around NCU01092. No statistically significant differences in H1 occupancy were found.



# **MNase-Seq**

Loss of histone H1 results in some nucleosomal instability in the subset of genes found to be mis-regulated in the mRNA-seq study and that quartile of genes with the lowest expression levels in the WT (S1) strain. Extensive studies have been done on the core histones, and early research on histone H1 indicates that it plays a role in the regulation of both chromatin compaction and higher-order chromatin structures [66, 141, 145]. Since H1 binds genomic DNA where it enters and exits the nucleosome, it is believed that it may play a role in regulating linker DNA length and in the stabilization of nucleosomes on the genome [1, 3-5, 8, 61, 63]. Micrococal Nuclease digestion degrades unbound linker DNA, however, DNA bound by the nucleosome is protected and does not initially undergo digestion by this nuclease. By sequencing the DNA that remains following MNase digestion of cross-linked DNA, nucleosome occupancy across the genome can be mapped [11, 191, 192]. To investigate any changes that may occur in nucleosome occupancy or stability in the absence of H1 in N. crassa a series of MNaseseq studies were conducted. These studies were done in both the WT (S1) and H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strains.

As a result of these experiments it was discovered that there appear to be some changes in nucleosomes stability around the <u>N</u>ucleseosome <u>Free Region</u> (NFR) in the subset of genes found to be mis-regulated in the mRNA-seq study (see above). An individual example of this effect at a single gene locus can be seen in Figure 4. It was also noticed that MNase digestion of chromatin down to single nucleosome fragments may occur somewhat faster in the H1 deletion mutant ( $\Delta hho$ ) in comparison to the WT (S1) strain when visualized on an 2% agarose gel as shown in Figure 5. Meta-genomic analysis of the MNase-seq data for the mis-regulated mRNA-seq gene set shows a decrease in average reads in the +1 Nucleosome in the H1 mutant ( $\Delta hho$ ) in contrast with the WT (S1) strain as shown in Figure 6. This is most readily apparent in the gene quartile with the lowest expression in the WT (S1) strain as shown in Figure 7. A slight change in read number in the +1 nucleosome region was also found in the other expression quartiles of this set, however, it was much less pronounced.

**Figure 4: Example of MNase-seq read data at gene locus NCU01092.** The top four lines in the diagram are a visualization of mRNA transcript levles between the WT (S-1, blue) and H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ , red) strains at example locus NCU01092 on Linkage Group V as visualized on IGV viewer [204]. The bottom four lines in the diagram are a visualization of MNase-seq reads for both the WT (S-1, blue) and H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ , red) strains at example locus NCU01092 on Linkage Group V as visualized on IGV viewer [204]. The bottom four lines in the diagram are a visualization of MNase-seq reads for both the WT (S-1, blue) and H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ , red) strains at example locus NCU01092 on Linkage Group V as visualized on IGV viewer [204]. The X axis shows a plot of Linkage group V with genes annotated at the bottom, while the Y axis represents relative read number in the mRNA-seq and MNase-seq data sets respectively. The Red boxes denote changes in nucleosome occupancy between the WT (S1) and H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strains in the Nucleosome Free Region (NFR) of this gene in the MNase-seq data set.



Figure 5: Differences in WT and  $\Delta hho$  MNase digestion patterns. This figure shows the results of the MNase digestion of cross-linked DNA of the WT (S1) and H1 deletion mutant ( $\Delta hho$ ) strains of *N. crassa* for various digestion time intervals as visualized on a 2% agarose gel. Gel lanes were loaded with 250ng of DNA per lane and visualized with EtBr under UV light. DNA ladder used was Invitrogen 1Kb plus (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., MA Cat #10787-018) and enzyme digestion times for the lanes are as follows: 1) Ladder 2) no enzyme control 3) 1 minute 4) 5 minute 5) 10 minute 6) 20 minute 7) 40 minute. The red boxes show the samples with 10 and 20 minutes of MNase digestion where the  $\Delta hho$  samples show a higher intensity of signal in the lower bands. These differences may indicate increased accessibility of MNase to the DNA in the  $\Delta hho$ samples due to deficits in nucleosome stability, resulting in faster digestion of both euchromatic and heterocromatic regions.



**Figure 6: MNase-seq read levels in the mis-regulated mRNA gene set.** This figure shows changes in average MNase-seq read intensity for the gene set found to be mis-regulated in the mRNA study as as plotted in R (Alexander Matte Santos, unpublished) [199]. In these figures the Y axis shows relative read number and the X axis shows an averaged gene locus with the TSS at 1000. Graphs with red lines represent an average of the subset of genes up-regulated in  $\Delta hho$ , graphs with blue line represent an average of those genes down-regulated in  $\Delta hho$ , and graphs with black lines shows an average off all genes. The top row of graphs show average read intensity for the H1 ChIP-seq study (A). The middle row of graphs show average read intensity for the MNase-seq data set in the WT (S1) strain (B). The bottom row of graphs show average read intensity for the MNase-seq data set in the H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strain (C).



Position 1000 = Transcriptional Start Site (TSS)

**Figure 7: Example of changes in MNase-seq reads levels in the NFR.** The histogram at the top of the figure shows changes in log 2 transcript levels for the WT (S1) strain in the mRNA-seq study as plotted in R (Alexander Matte Santos, Unpublished) [199]. The X axis shows log 2 transcript levels, and the Y axis shows frequency of genes with a particular log 2 transcript level as in Figure 1 above. The WT (S1) mRNA-seq gene set has been split into quartiles, and color coded by increasing log 2 expression values (A). The first row of graphs shows the MNase-seq read level across an averaged gene locus for each quartile in the WT (S1) strain (B). The second row of graphs shows the MNase-seq read level across an averaged gene locus for each quartile in the H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strain (C). In both (B) and (C) the Y axis shows relative read number and the X axis shows an averaged gene locus for the quartile with the TSS at 1000 (denoted by the thin vertical red line) as plotted in R (Alexander Matte Santos, unpublished) [199].





Position 1000 = Transcriptional Start Site (TSS)

#### **CHAPTER 5**

#### DISCUSSION

To identify the role H1 plays in the regulation of transcript population and chromatin structure of N. crassa, studies were conducted to identify the normal occupancy pattern of H1 on the genome and to identify if its loss had any effect on nucleosome stability or transcriptional regulation. Our investigations revealed no differences in H1 occupancy, however, in the mRNA-seq study it was discovered there were changes in the transcript levels of a small set of genes in the H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strain. Of the genes mis-regulated in the H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strain a subset had significant changes in their expression levels, with a change in transcript level of log 2 or more. In addition to altered gene transcription levels found in the mRNA-seq study, the MNase-seq data set revealed that many of these mis-regulated genes show distinct changes in nucleosome occupancy, often in and around the Nucleosome Free Region (NFR). This is significant because histone H1 has been found to play a role in chromatin structural stability in previous studies, and serves to establish a parallel between N. crassa and higher eukaryotes [65, 143]. Though no specific H1 localization patterns were found in the ChIP-seq studies, the existence of a specific mis-regulated gene set in the H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strain would indicate that H1 is playing a role in their regulation.

Though the initial mRNA-seq studies have successfully shown transcriptional changes in a defined gene set in the H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strain, it is currently unknown if this mis-regulation is directly caused by the binding of H1 itself, or if it arises due to a

cascade effect caused by H1's interaction (or lack thereof) with transcriptional factors or chromatin remodeling proteins higher in the regulatory chain. In addition, since this study looked at only the WT (S1) and H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strains, it might be productive to examine the effects of either a partial depletion or over expression of H1 on this gene set in future studies. A partial depletion or over expression study would allow investigators to directly control the relative levels of H1 expression, which would help to define the minimum and maximum levels of H1 protein required for normal function in *N. crassa*. This could be done through the use of RNA interference pathways or inducible / alternate promoter constructs [205, 206].

There is also that possibility that some of the altered transcript levels in the H1 deletion (*Ahho*) strain result from cryptic transcription caused by the destabilization of chromatin structure as evidenced in the differences found in the MNase-seq data sets. Cryptic transcription is the expression of non-coding RNA (ncRNA) or anti-sense RNA (asRNA) from non-standard promoters within a gene locus [207, 208]. It is possible that H1's association with chromatin plays a role in suppressing cryptic promoters by stabilizing nucleosome positioning and higher order chromatin structure [209, 210]. Due to the fact that the RNA-seq experiments conducted in this study focused on mRNA transcription by isolating polyadenylated transcripts, it may be advisable to repeat this sequencing study on the total RNA sample. Any sequencing libraries constructed from the total RNA sample should reveal the presence of any ncRNA or asRNA resulting from active cryptic promoters. It may also be possible to utilize strand-specific RNA-seq or qPCR to confirm the results of any changes found in such a study [211, 212].

Previous studies in *N. crassa* also found that the loss of H1 induced transcriptional changes under alternate growth conditions [12]. Another future study should be done to explore variations in transcriptional expression in greater detail in both the WT (S1) and H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strains under such alternate growth conditions. The effects of nutritional stress on the WT (S1) or H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strain can easily be examined by varying nutrient availability in the standard growth media, or through the addition of chemical agents to induce various forms of environmental stress.

Since this study provides a reliable baseline expression level of the *N. crassa* genome for both the WT (S1) and the H1 deletion ( $\Delta hho$ ) strains under normal growth conditions, it may also prove worthwhile to investigate any possible effects of H1's loss on various differentiated cell types or in cells at different points in the cell cycle. Though the isolation of small populations of specific cell types (such as a parathecia) or cells in a certain phase of the cell cycle is fairly difficult, it may prove more practical in the future as both cellular isolation and sequencing technologies advance.

Another avenue by which the control of this mis-regulated gene set might be effected is through the post-translational modification of H1. As discussed in the introduction, preliminary studies have shown that H1 may be regulated in a similar fashion to the core histones. H1 regulatory mechanisms, such as PTMs, competitive inhibition, and various protein-protein interactions, have been found in a variety of model organisms including humans, mice, and Drosophila [150, 201, 213]. The specific regulation of histone H1 is demonstrated most clearly in *Mus musculus*, where multiple H1 genes are expressed differentially, in both a cell cycle and tissue-dependent manner [150, 151]. Though *N. crassa* has only a single H1 gene, it seems reasonable to expect

that it too will be tightly regulated through the same type of control pathways seen in other eukaryotes. Though attempts to purify H1 were unsuccessful during the term of this study, future investigators could work to identify any PTMs present on H1 in N. crassa through the use of mass spectrometry analysis of purified H1samples utilizing the proven LX-44-5 strain (Lewis, unpublished) [157, 214]. This would allow for the comprehensive identification of any H1 PTMs present in the H1 protein population of N. crassa. A set of preliminary experiments done in this lab have also shown this same LX-44-5 strain could also be used to identifying H1 protein-protein interactions present in N. *crassa* through the use of co-immunoprecipitation assays (Lewis, unpublished data). Though these initial results showed a preponderance of ribosomal proteins, it is possible that the protein isolation procedure may not have been stringent enough to remove the bulk of non-specific chromatin binding proteins from the sample analyzed. To rectify this problem, future investigators could perform additional co-immunoprecipitation assays utilizing high salt conditions to avoid non specific protein-protein interactions [215]. Alternate or complimentary studies could also be done utilizing yeast-2-hybrid or bimolecular fluorescence assays [216, 217].

Though both H1's occupancy across the genome and its effect on nucleosome positioning has been examined over the course of this study, the results reported here represent only an initial foray into understanding the functionality of H1 in *N. crassa*. The studies presented here have succeeded in laying a strong foundation for future experimentation and have established *N. crassa* as a viable model organism for the investigation of H1 with clear parallels to higher eukaryotic organisms.

# REFERENCES

- Kornberg RD. 1974. Chromatin structure: a repeating unit of histones and DNA. Science. 184:868-871
- Olins AL, Olins DE. 1974. Spheroid chromatin units (v bodies). Science.
   183:330-332
- Thomas JO. 1999. Histone H1: location and role. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 11:312-317
- Vignali M, Workman JL. 1998. Location and function of linker histones. Nature Structural Biology. 5:1025-1028
- Luger K, Mader AW, Richmond RK, Sargent DF, Richmond TJ. 1997.
   Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 angstrom resolution.
   Nature. 389:251-260
- Kasinsky HE, Lewis JD, Dacks JB, Ausio J. 2001. Origin of H1 linker histones. FASEB J. 15:34-42
- 7. Wolffe AP. 1997. Histone H1. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 29:1463-1466
- Thomas JO. 1984. The higher order structure of chromatin and histone H1. J Cell Sci Suppl. 1:1-20
- Rupp RA, Becker PB. 2005. Gene regulation by histone H1: new links to DNA methylation. Cell. 123:1178-1179

- Xiao B, Freedman BS, Miller KE, Heald R, Marko JF. 2012. Histone H1 compacts DNA under force and during chromatin assembly. Mol Biol Cell. 23:4864-4871
- Davis RH, De Serres FJ. 1970. Genetic and microbiological research techniques for *Neurospora crassa*. Methods Enzymol. 17A:47-143
- Folco HD, Freitag M, Ramon A, Temporini ED, Alvarez ME, Garcia I, Scazzocchio C, Selker EU, Rosa AL. 2003. Histone H1 Is required for proper regulation of pyruvate decarboxylase gene expression in Neurospora crassa. Eukaryot Cell. 2:341-350
- Galagan JE, Calvo SE, Borkovich KA, Selker EU, Read ND, Jaffe D, FitzHugh W, Ma LJ, Smirnov S, Purcell S, Rehman B, Elkins T, Engels R, Wang S, Nielsen CB, Butler J, Endrizzi M, Qui D, Ianakiev P, Bell-Pedersen D, Nelson MA, Werner-Washburne M, Selitrennikoff CP, Kinsey JA, Braun EL, Zelter A, Schulte U, Kothe GO, Jedd G, Mewes W, Staben C, Marcotte E, Greenberg D, Roy A, Foley K, Naylor J, Stange-Thomann N, Barrett R, Gnerre S, Kamal M, Kamvysselis M, Mauceli E, Bielke C, Rudd S, Frishman D, Krystofova S, Rasmussen C, Metzenberg RL, Perkins DD, Kroken S, Cogoni C, Macino G, Catcheside D, Li W, Pratt RJ, Osmani SA, DeSouza CP, Glass L, Orbach MJ, Berglund JA, Voelker R, Yarden O, Plamann M, Seiler S, Dunlap J, Radford A, Aramayo R, Natvig DO, Alex LA, Mannhaupt G, Ebbole DJ, Freitag M, Paulsen I, Sachs MS, Lander ES, Nusbaum C, Birren B. 2003. The genome sequence of the filamentous fungus Neurospora crassa. Nature. 422:859-868

- Perkins DD, Davis RH. 2000. Neurospora at the millennium. Fungal Genet Biol. 31:153-167
- Aramayo R, Selker EU. 2013. Neurospora crassa, a model system for epigenetics research. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 5:a017921
- 16. Doenecke D, Tonjes R. 1986. Differential distribution of lysine and arginine residues in the closely related histones H1 and H5. Analysis of a human H1 gene. J Mol Biol. 187:461-464
- 17. Waddington CH. 1953. Epigenetics and evolution. Symp. Soc. Exp. Biol. 7:186-199
- 18. Waddington CH. 1942. Epigenotype. Endevour. 1:18-20
- 19. Waddington CH. 1939. Introduction to Modern Genetics.
- 20. Holliday R. 1994. Epigenetics: an overview. Dev Genet. 15:453-457
- 21. Holliday R. 2006. Epigenetics: a historical overview. Epigenetics. 1:76-80
- McClintock B. 1956. Controlling elements and the gene. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 21:197-216
- Schultz J. 1956. The relation of the heterochromatic chromosome regions to the nucleic acids of the cell. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 21:307-328
- Brink RA. 1959. Paramutation at the R Locus in Maize Plants Trisomic for Chromosome 10. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 45:819-827
- Brink RA. 1958. Paramutation at the R locus in maize. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 23:379-391
- Lyon MF. 1961. Gene action in the X-chromosome of the mouse (Mus musculus L.). Nature. 190:372-373

- 27. Griffith JS, Mahler HR. 1969. DNA ticketing theory of memory. Nature.223:580-582
- Holliday R, Pugh JE. 1975. DNA modification mechanisms and gene activity during development. Science. 187:226-232
- 29. Holliday R. 1979. A new theory of carcinogenesis. Br J Cancer. 40:513-522
- Holliday R, Pugh JE. 1978. Do chemical carcinogens act by altering epigenetic controls through DNA repair rather than by mutations? Heredity. 40:329
- Scarano E, Maggio R. 1959. The enzymatic deamination of 5'-deoxycytidylic acid and of 5-methyl-5'-deoxycytidylic acid in the developing sea urchin embryo.
   Exp Cell Res. 18:333-346
- Scarano E. 1971. The control of gene function in cell differentiation and in embryogenesis. Adv Cytopharmacol. 1:13-24
- 33. Sager R, Kitchin R. 1975. Selective silencing of eukaryotic DNA. Science.
  189:426-433
- Marinus MG, Morris NR. 1975. Pleiotropic effects of a DNA adenine methylation mutation (dam-3) in Escherichia coli K12. Mutat Res. 28:15-26
- 35. **Marinus MG, Morris NR, Soll D, Kwong TC.** 1975. Isolation and partial characterization of three Escherichia coli mutants with altered transfer ribonucleic acid methylases. J Bacteriol. **122**:257-265
- Marinus MG. 1973. Location of DNA methylation genes on the Escherichia coli K-12 genetic map. Mol Gen Genet. 127:47-55
- Marinus MG, Morris NR. 1973. Isolation of deoxyribonucleic acid methylase mutants of Escherichia coli K-12. J Bacteriol. 114:1143-1150

- 38. Glickman B, van den Elsen P, Radman M. 1978. Induced mutagenesis in dam- mutants of Escherichia coli: a role for 6-methyladenine residues in mutation avoidance. Mol Gen Genet. 163:307-312
- Coulondre C, Miller JH, Farabaugh PJ, Gilbert W. 1978. Molecular basis of base substitution hotspots in Escherichia coli. Nature. 274:775-780
- 40. Kaput J, Sneider TW. 1979. Methylation of somatic vs germ cell DNAs analyzed by restriction endonuclease digestions. Nucleic Acids Res. 7:2303-2322
- 41. Taylor SM, Jones PA. 1979. Multiple new phenotypes induced in 10T1/2 and
  3T3 cells treated with 5-azacytidine. Cell. 17:771-779
- 42. Holliday R. 1987. The inheritance of epigenetic defects. Science. 238:163-170
- Smith ZD, Meissner A. 2013. DNA methylation: roles in mammalian development. Nat Rev Genet. 14:204-220
- Kumar R, Rao DN. 2013. Role of DNA methyltransferases in epigenetic regulation in bacteria. Subcell Biochem. 61:81-102
- 45. **Flemming W.** 1882. Zellsubstanz, Kern und Zelltheilung (Cell substance, nucleus and cell division).
- 46. Stedman E. 1950. Cell specificity of histones. Nature. 166:780-781
- Watson JD, Crick FH. 1953. Molecular structure of nucleic acids; a structure for deoxyribose nucleic acid. Nature. 171:737-738
- 48. Mazia D, Jaeger L. 1939. Nuclease Action, Protease Action and Histochemical Tests on Salivary Chromosomes of Drosophila. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.
  25:456-461

- Schultz J, Caspersson T, Aquilonius L. 1940. The Genetic Control of Nucleolar Composition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 26:515-523
- 50. Pauling L, Corey RB, Branson HR. 1951. The structure of proteins; two hydrogen-bonded helical configurations of the polypeptide chain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 37:205-211
- 51. Allfrey VG, Faulkner R, Mirsky AE. 1964. Acetylation and Methylation of Histones and Their Possible Role in the Regulation of Rna Synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 51:786-794
- 52. Johns EW, Hoare TA. 1970. Histones and gene control. Nature. 226:650-651
- 53. **Pardon JF, Richards BM, Cotter RI.** 1974. X-ray diffraction studies on oriented nucleohistone gels. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. **38**:75-81
- 54. **Everid AC, Small JV, Davies HG.** 1970. Electron-microscope observations on the structure of condensed chromatin: evidence for orderly arrays of unit threads on the surface of chicken erythrocyte nuclei. J Cell Sci. **7**:35-48
- Swift H. 1974. The organization of genetic material in eukaryotes: progress and prospects. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 38:963-979
- 56. Woodcock CL, Sweetman HE, Frado LL. 1976. Structural repeating units in chromatin. II. Their isolation and partial characterization. Exp Cell Res. 97:111-119
- Kornberg RD, Thomas JO. 1974. Chromatin structure; oligomers of the histones. Science. 184:865-868

- Oudet P, Gross-Bellard M, Chambon P. 1975. Electron microscopic and biochemical evidence that chromatin structure is a repeating unit. Cell. 4:281-300
- Woodcock CL, Safer JP, Stanchfield JE. 1976. Structural repeating units in chromatin. I. Evidence for their general occurrence. Exp Cell Res. 97:101-110
- 60. **Thomas JO, Kornberg RD.** 1975. An octamer of histones in chromatin and free in solution. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. **72**:2626-2630
- 61. Arents G, Burlingame RW, Wang BC, Love WE, Moudrianakis EN. 1991. The nucleosomal core histone octamer at 3.1 A resolution: a tripartite protein assembly and a left-handed superhelix. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 88:10148-10152
- 62. Eickbush TH, Moudrianakis EN. 1978. The histone core complex: an octamer assembled by two sets of protein-protein interactions. Biochemistry. 17:4955-4964
- 63. Allan J, Hartman PG, Crane-Robinson C, Aviles FX. 1980. The structure of histone H1 and its location in chromatin. Nature. 288:675-679
- Huisinga KL, Brower-Toland B, Elgin SC. 2006. The contradictory definitions of heterochromatin: transcription and silencing. Chromosoma. 115:110-122
- 65. Bednar J, Horowitz RA, Grigoryev SA, Carruthers LM, Hansen JC, Koster AJ, Woodcock CL. 1998. Nucleosomes, linker DNA, and linker histone form a unique structural motif that directs the higher-order folding and compaction of chromatin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 95:14173-14178

- 66. Luger K, Dechassa ML, Tremethick DJ. 2012. New insights into nucleosome and chromatin structure: an ordered state or a disordered affair? Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 13:436-447
- 67. Ito T. 2007. Role of histone modification in chromatin dynamics. J Biochem.141:609-614
- 68. Villar-Garea A, Imhof A. 2006. The analysis of histone modifications.Biochim Biophys Acta. 1764:1932-1939
- 69. Bhaumik SR, Smith E, Shilatifard A. 2007. Covalent modifications of histones during development and disease pathogenesis. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 14:1008-1016
- Jenuwein T, Allis CD. 2001. Translating the histone code. Science. 293:1074-1080
- Georgel PT, Hansen JC. 2001. Linker histone function in chromatin: dual mechanisms of action. Biochem Cell Biol. 79:313-316
- 72. Harshman SW, Young NL, Parthun MR, Freitas MA. 2013. H1 histones: current perspectives and challenges. Nucleic Acids Res. **41**:9593-9609
- 73. **Shear CL, Dodge BO.** 1927. Life histories and heterothallism of the red breadmold fungi of the *Monilia sitophila* group. J. Agric. Res. **34**:1019-1042
- Beadle GW, Tatum EL. 1941. Genetic Control of Biochemical Reactions in Neurospora. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 27:499-506
- 75. **Turner BC, Perkins DD, Fairfield A.** 2001. Neurospora from natural populations: a global study. Fungal Genet Biol. **32**:67-92

- Lindegren CC. 1936. A six point map of the sex chromosome of *Neurospora* crassa. J. Genet. 32:243-256
- 77. **Lindegren CC.** 1933. The genetics of Neurospora III. Pure bred stocks and crossing-over in *N. crassa*. Bull. Torrey Bot. Club. **60**:133-154
- Lindegren CC, Lindegren G. 1939. Non-random crossing over in the second chromosome of *Neurospora crassa*. Genetics. 24:1-7
- 79. Beadle GW. 1945. Biochemical genetics. Chem. Rev. 37:15-96
- Tatum EL, Beadle GW. 1942. Genetic Control of Biochemical Reactions in Neurospora: An "Aminobenzoicless" Mutant. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 28:234-243
- 81. Horowitz NH. 1948. The one gene-one enzyme hypothesis. Genetics. 33:612
- Teas HJ, Horowitz NH. 1948. The genetics of canavanine resistance in Neurospora. Genetics. 33:127
- Horowitz NH, Srb AM. 1948. Growth inhibition of Neurospora by canavanine, and its reversal. J Biol Chem. 174:371-378
- 84. Horowitz NH. 1950. Biochemical genetics of Neurospora. Adv. Genet. 3:33-71
- 85. **Horowitz NH, Leupold U.** 1951. Some recent studies bearing on the one geneone enzyme bypothesis. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. **16**:65-74
- Maas WK, Davis BD. 1952. Production of an Altered Pantothenate-Synthesizing Enzyme by a Temperature-Sensitive Mutant of Escherichia Coli.
  Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 38:785-797
- 87. Davis RH. 1967. Channeling in Neurospora metabolism. 303-322

- 88. **Yanofsky C.** 1956. Gene interactions in enzyme synthesis. 147-160
- Williams LG, Bernhardt SA, Davis RH. 1971. Evidence for two discrete carbamyl phosphate pools in Neurospora. J Biol Chem. 246:973-978
- 90. Fincham JR, Pateman JA. 1957. Formation of an enzyme through complementary action of mutant alleles in separate nuclei in a heterocaryon. Nature. 179:741-742
- 91. Woodward DO. 1959. Enzyme Complementation in Vitro between
  Adenylosuccinaseless Mutants of Neurospora Crassa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.
  45:846-850
- 92. Gross SR. 1965. The regulation of synthesis of leucine biosynthetic enzymes in Neurospora. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 54:1538-1546
- Carsiotis M, Lacy AM. 1965. Increased Activity of Tryptophan Biosynthetic Enzymes in Histidine Mutants of Neurospora Crassa. J Bacteriol. 89:1472-1477
- 94. **Marzluf GA, Metzenberg RL.** 1968. Positive control by the cys-3 locus in regulation of sulfur metabolism in Neurospora. J Mol Biol. **33**:423-437
- Slayman CL, Slayman CW. 1962. Measurement of membrane potentials in Neurospora. Science. 136:876-877
- 96. Slayman CL. 1970. Movement of ions and electrogenesis in microorganisms.Am Zool. 10:377-392
- 97. Slayman CL. 1965. Electrical properties of Neurospora crassa. Respiration and the intracellular potential. J Gen Physiol. **49**:93-116

- 98. Slayman CL, Slayman CW. 1974. Depolarization of the plasma membrane of Neurospora during active transport of glucose: evidence for a proton-dependent cotransport system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 71:1935-1939
- Scarborough GA. 1975. Isolation and characterization of Neurospora crassa plasma membranes. J Biol Chem. 250:1106-1111
- Pall ML. 1970. Amino acid transport in Neurospora crassa. 3. Acidic amino acid transport. Biochim Biophys Acta. 211:513-520
- 101. Mitchell MB, Mitchell HK, Tissieres A. 1953. Mendelian and Non-Mendelian Factors Affecting the Cytochrome System in Neurospora Crassa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 39:606-613
- Luck DJ. 1963. Formation of mitochondria in Neurospora crassa. A quantitative radioautographic study. J Cell Biol. 16:483-499
- Luck DJ. 1963. Genesis of mitochondria in neurospora crassa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 49:233-240
- 104. Diacumakos EG, Garnjobst L, Tatum EL. 1965. A cytoplasmic character in Neurospora crassa. The role of nuclei and mitochondria. J Cell Biol. 26:427-443
- Luck DJ, Reich E. 1964. DNA in Mitochondria of Neurospora Crassa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 52:931-938
- Heckman JE, Hecker LI, Schwartzbach SD, Barnett WE, Baumstark B,
   RajBhandary UL. 1978. Structure and function of initiator methionine tRNA from the mitochondria of Neurospora crassa. Cell. 13:83-95
- 107. Feldman JF, Hoyle MN. 1973. Isolation of circadian clock mutants of Neurospora crassa. Genetics. 75:605-613
- 108. Dunlap JC, Loros JJ, Aronson BD, Merrow M, Crosthwaite S, Bell-Pedersen D, Johnson K, Lindgren K, Garceau NY. 1995. The genetic basis of the circadian clock: identification of frq and FRQ as clock components in Neurospora. Ciba Found Symp. 183:3-17; discussion 17-25
- Loros JJ, Denome SA, Dunlap JC. 1989. Molecular cloning of genes under control of the circadian clock in Neurospora. Science. 243:385-388
- Sargent ML, Briggs WR. 1967. The effects of light on a circadian rhythm of conidiation in neurospora. Plant Physiol. 42:1504-1510
- Harding RW, Turner RV. 1981. Photoregulation of the Carotenoid
   Biosynthetic Pathway in Albino and White Collar Mutants of Neurospora crassa.
   Plant Physiol. 68:745-749
- 112. Cheng P, Yang Y, Wang L, He Q, Liu Y. 2003. WHITE COLLAR-1, a multifunctional neurospora protein involved in the circadian feedback loops, light sensing, and transcription repression of wc-2. J Biol Chem. 278:3801-3808
- 113. Bell-Pedersen D. 2000. Understanding circadian rhythmicity in Neurospora crassa: from behavior to genes and back again. Fungal Genet Biol. 29:1-18
- 114. Correa A, Lewis ZA, Greene AV, March IJ, Gomer RH, Bell-Pedersen D.
  2003. Multiple oscillators regulate circadian gene expression in Neurospora.
  Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 100:13597-13602
- 115. Lewis ZA, Correa A, Schwerdtfeger C, Link KL, Xie X, Gomer RH, Thomas T, Ebbole DJ, Bell-Pedersen D. 2002. Overexpression of White Collar-1 (WC-1) activates circadian clock-associated genes, but is not sufficient to induce most

light-regulated gene expression in Neurospora crassa. Mol Microbiol. **45**:917-931

- 116. Bell-Pedersen D, Lewis ZA, Loros JJ, Dunlap JC. 2001. The Neurospora circadian clock regulates a transcription factor that controls rhythmic expression of the output eas(ccg-2) gene. Mol Microbiol. 41:897-909
- Beadle GW, Coonradt VL. 1944. Heterocaryosis in Neurospora Crassa.Genetics. 29:291-308
- 118. Garnjobst L, Wilson JF. 1956. Heterocaryosis and Protoplasmic
   Incompatibility in Neurospora Crassa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 42:613-618
- 119. Perkins DD. 1975. The use of duplication-generating rearrangements for studying heterokaryon incompatibility genes in Neurospora. Genetics. 80:87-105
- 120. Mitchell MB. 1955. FURTHER EVIDENCE OF ABERRANTRECOMBINATION IN Neurospora. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 41:935-937
- Mitchell MB. 1955. ABERRANT RECOMBINATION OF PYRIDOXINE MUTANTS OF Neurospora. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 41:215-220
- 122. Borkovich KA, Alex LA, Yarden O, Freitag M, Turner GE, Read ND, Seiler S, Bell-Pedersen D, Paietta J, Plesofsky N, Plamann M, Goodrich-Tanrikulu M, Schulte U, Mannhaupt G, Nargang FE, Radford A, Selitrennikoff C, Galagan JE, Dunlap JC, Loros JJ, Catcheside D, Inoue H, Aramayo R, Polymenis M, Selker EU, Sachs MS, Marzluf GA, Paulsen I, Davis R, Ebbole DJ, Zelter A, Kalkman ER, O'Rourke R, Bowring F, Yeadon J, Ishii C, Suzuki K, Sakai W, Pratt R. 2004. Lessons from the genome sequence of

Neurospora crassa: tracing the path from genomic blueprint to multicellular organism. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. **68**:1-108

- 123. Colot HV, Park G, Turner GE, Ringelberg C, Crew CM, Litvinkova L, Weiss RL, Borkovich KA, Dunlap JC. 2006. A high-throughput gene knockout procedure for Neurospora reveals functions for multiple transcription factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 103:10352-10357
- 124. **McCluskey K, Wiest A, Plamann M.** 2010. The Fungal Genetics Stock Center: a repository for 50 years of fungal genetics research. J Biosci. **35**:119-126
- McCluskey K. 2003. The Fungal Genetics Stock Center: from molds to molecules. Adv Appl Microbiol. 52:245-262
- 126. Lewis ZA, Honda S, Khlafallah TK, Jeffress JK, Freitag M, Mohn F, Schubeler D, Selker EU. 2009. Relics of repeat-induced point mutation direct heterochromatin formation in Neurospora crassa. Genome Res. 19:427-437
- 127. Freitag M, Williams RL, Kothe GO, Selker EU. 2002. A cytosine methyltransferase homologue is essential for repeat-induced point mutation in Neurospora crassa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 99:8802-8807
- Selker EU. 1990. Premeiotic instability of repeated sequences in Neurospora crassa. Annu Rev Genet. 24:579-613
- 129. Aramayo R, Metzenberg RL. 1996. Meiotic transvection in fungi. Cell.86:103-113
- 130. Shiu PK, Metzenberg RL. 2002. Meiotic silencing by unpaired DNA: properties, regulation and suppression. Genetics. 161:1483-1495

- Pickford AS, Catalanotto C, Cogoni C, Macino G. 2002. Quelling in Neurospora crassa. Adv Genet. 46:277-303
- 132. Cogoni C, Irelan JT, Schumacher M, Schmidhauser TJ, Selker EU, Macino G. 1996. Transgene silencing of the al-1 gene in vegetative cells of Neurospora is mediated by a cytoplasmic effector and does not depend on DNA-DNA interactions or DNA methylation. EMBO J. 15:3153-3163
- Centola M, Carbon J. 1994. Cloning and characterization of centromeric DNA from Neurospora crassa. Mol Cell Biol. 14:1510-1519
- 134. Wu C, Kim YS, Smith KM, Li W, Hood HM, Staben C, Selker EU, Sachs MS, Farman ML. 2009. Characterization of chromosome ends in the filamentous fungus Neurospora crassa. Genetics. 181:1129-1145
- Foss HM, Roberts CJ, Claeys KM, Selker EU. 1993. Abnormal chromosome behavior in Neurospora mutants defective in DNA methylation. Science.
   262:1737-1741
- 136. Selker EU, Freitag M, Kothe GO, Margolin BS, Rountree MR, Allis CD, Tamaru H. 2002. Induction and maintenance of nonsymmetrical DNA methylation in Neurospora. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 99 Suppl 4:16485-16490
- 137. Selker EU, Tountas NA, Cross SH, Margolin BS, Murphy JG, Bird AP,
   Freitag M. 2003. The methylated component of the Neurospora crassa genome.
   Nature. 422:893-897
- Tamaru H, Selker EU. 2001. A histone H3 methyltransferase controls DNA methylation in Neurospora crassa. Nature. 414:277-283

- 139. Kouzminova E, Selker EU. 2001. dim-2 encodes a DNA methyltransferase responsible for all known cytosine methylation in Neurospora. EMBO J.
  20:4309-4323
- 140. Dobosy JR, Selker EU. 2001. Emerging connections between DNA methylation and histone acetylation. Cell Mol Life Sci. 58:721-727
- 141. Khochbin S. 2001. Histone H1 diversity: bridging regulatory signals to linker histone function. Gene. 271:1-12
- Ascenzi R, Gantt JS. 1999. Subnuclear distribution of the entire complement of linker histone variants in Arabidopsis thaliana. Chromosoma. 108:345-355
- 143. Widom J. 1998. Chromatin structure: linking structure to function with histoneH1. Curr Biol. 8:R788-791
- 144. Clausell J, Happel N, Hale TK, Doenecke D, Beato M. 2009. Histone H1 subtypes differentially modulate chromatin condensation without preventing ATP-dependent remodeling by SWI/SNF or NURF. PLoS One. 4:e0007243
- 145. Happel N, Doenecke D. 2009. Histone H1 and its isoforms: contribution to chromatin structure and function. Gene. 431:1-12
- 146. Wu M, Allis CD, Richman R, Cook RG, Gorovsky MA. 1986. An intervening sequence in an unusual histone H1 gene of Tetrahymena thermophila. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 83:8674-8678
- 147. Landsman D. 1996. Histone H1 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: a double mystery solved? Trends Biochem Sci. 21:287-288
- 148. Ali T, Thomas JO. 2004. Distinct properties of the two putative "globular domains" of the yeast linker histone, Hho1p. J Mol Biol. **337**:1123-1135

149. Mouse Genome Sequencing C, Waterston RH, Lindblad-Toh K, Birney E, Rogers J, Abril JF, Agarwal P, Agarwala R, Ainscough R, Alexandersson M, An P, Antonarakis SE, Attwood J, Baertsch R, Bailey J, Barlow K, Beck S, Berry E, Birren B, Bloom T, Bork P, Botcherby M, Bray N, Brent MR, Brown DG, Brown SD, Bult C, Burton J, Butler J, Campbell RD, Carninci P, Cawley S, Chiaromonte F, Chinwalla AT, Church DM, Clamp M, Clee C, Collins FS, Cook LL, Copley RR, Coulson A, Couronne O, Cuff J, Curwen V, Cutts T, Daly M, David R, Davies J, Delehaunty KD, Deri J, Dermitzakis ET, Dewey C, Dickens NJ, Diekhans M, Dodge S, Dubchak I, Dunn DM, Eddy SR, Elnitski L, Emes RD, Eswara P, Eyras E, Felsenfeld A, Fewell GA, Flicek P, Foley K, Frankel WN, Fulton LA, Fulton RS, Furey TS, Gage D, Gibbs RA, Glusman G, Gnerre S, Goldman N, Goodstadt L, Grafham D, Graves TA, Green ED, Gregory S, Guigo R, Guyer M, Hardison RC, Haussler D, Hayashizaki Y, Hillier LW, Hinrichs A, Hlavina W, Holzer T, Hsu F, Hua A, Hubbard T, Hunt A, Jackson I, Jaffe DB, Johnson LS, Jones M, Jones TA, Joy A, Kamal M, Karlsson EK, Karolchik D, Kasprzyk A, Kawai J, Keibler E, Kells C, Kent WJ, Kirby A, Kolbe DL, Korf I, Kucherlapati RS, Kulbokas EJ, Kulp D, Landers T, Leger JP, Leonard S, Letunic I, Levine R, Li J, Li M, Lloyd C, Lucas S, Ma B, Maglott DR, Mardis ER, Matthews L, Mauceli E, Mayer JH, McCarthy M, McCombie WR, McLaren S, McLay K, McPherson JD, Meldrim J, Meredith B, Mesirov JP, Miller W, Miner TL, Mongin E, Montgomery KT, Morgan M, Mott R, Mullikin JC, Muzny DM, Nash WE, Nelson JO, Nhan MN, Nicol R, Ning Z,

Nusbaum C, O'Connor MJ, Okazaki Y, Oliver K, Overton-Larty E, Pachter L, Parra G, Pepin KH, Peterson J, Pevzner P, Plumb R, Pohl CS, Poliakov A, Ponce TC, Ponting CP, Potter S, Quail M, Reymond A, Roe BA, Roskin KM, Rubin EM, Rust AG, Santos R, Sapojnikov V, Schultz B, Schultz J, Schwartz MS, Schwartz S, Scott C, Seaman S, Searle S, Sharpe T, Sheridan A, Shownkeen R, Sims S, Singer JB, Slater G, Smit A, Smith DR, Spencer B, Stabenau A, Stange-Thomann N, Sugnet C, Suyama M, Tesler G, Thompson J, Torrents D, Trevaskis E, Tromp J, Ucla C, Ureta-Vidal A, Vinson JP, Von Niederhausern AC, Wade CM, Wall M, Weber RJ, Weiss RB, Wendl MC, West AP, Wetterstrand K, Wheeler R, Whelan S, Wierzbowski J, Willey D, Williams S, Wilson RK, Winter E, Worley KC, Wyman D, Yang S, Yang SP, Zdobnov EM, Zody MC, Lander ES. 2002. Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. Nature. **420**:520-562

- 150. Fan Y, Nikitina T, Zhao J, Fleury TJ, Bhattacharyya R, Bouhassira EE, Stein A, Woodcock CL, Skoultchi AI. 2005. Histone H1 depletion in mammals alters global chromatin structure but causes specific changes in gene regulation. Cell. 123:1199-1212
- 151. Fan Y, Skoultchi AI. 2004. Genetic analysis of H1 linker histone subtypes and their functions in mice. Methods Enzymol. 377:85-107
- 152. Wierzbicki AT, Jerzmanowski A. 2005. Suppression of histone H1 genes in Arabidopsis results in heritable developmental defects and stochastic changes in DNA methylation. Genetics. 169:997-1008

- 153. Rhee SY, Beavis W, Berardini TZ, Chen G, Dixon D, Doyle A, Garcia-Hernandez M, Huala E, Lander G, Montoya M, Miller N, Mueller LA, Mundodi S, Reiser L, Tacklind J, Weems DC, Wu Y, Xu I, Yoo D, Yoon J, Zhang P. 2003. The Arabidopsis Information Resource (TAIR): a model organism database providing a centralized, curated gateway to Arabidopsis biology, research materials and community. Nucleic Acids Res. 31:224-228
- 154. Lamesch P, Berardini TZ, Li D, Swarbreck D, Wilks C, Sasidharan R, Muller R, Dreher K, Alexander DL, Garcia-Hernandez M, Karthikeyan AS, Lee CH, Nelson WD, Ploetz L, Singh S, Wensel A, Huala E. 2012. The Arabidopsis Information Resource (TAIR): improved gene annotation and new tools. Nucleic Acids Res. 40:D1202-1210
- 155. Ausio J. 2000. Are linker histones (histone H1) dispensable for survival? Bioessays. 22:873-877
- 156. Goff CG. 1976. Histones of Neurospora crassa. J Biol Chem. 251:4131-4138
- 157. Honda S, Selker EU. 2009. Tools for fungal proteomics: multifunctional neurospora vectors for gene replacement, protein expression and protein purification. Genetics. 182:11-23
- 158. Tian C, Beeson WT, Iavarone AT, Sun J, Marletta MA, Cate JH, Glass NL. 2009. Systems analysis of plant cell wall degradation by the model filamentous fungus Neurospora crassa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 106:22157-22162
- 159. Routh A, Sandin S, Rhodes D. 2008. Nucleosome repeat length and linker histone stoichiometry determine chromatin fiber structure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 105:8872-8877

- 160. Harvey AC, Downs JA. 2004. What functions do linker histones provide? Mol Microbiol. 53:771-775
- 161. Wolffe AP. 1989. Dominant and specific repression of Xenopus oocyte 5S RNA genes and satellite I DNA by histone H1. EMBO J. 8:527-537
- 162. Thoma F, Koller T, Klug A. 1979. Involvement of histone H1 in the organization of the nucleosome and of the salt-dependent superstructures of chromatin. J Cell Biol. 83:403-427
- 163. Thoma F, Koller T. 1977. Influence of histone H1 on chromatin structure. Cell.12:101-107
- Zlatanova J, Yaneva J. 1991. Histone H1-DNA interactions and their relation to chromatin structure and function. DNA Cell Biol. 10:239-248
- 165. Wisniewski JR, Zougman A, Kruger S, Mann M. 2007. Mass spectrometric mapping of linker histone H1 variants reveals multiple acetylations, methylations, and phosphorylation as well as differences between cell culture and tissue. Mol Cell Proteomics. 6:72-87
- 166. Garcia BA, Busby SA, Barber CM, Shabanowitz J, Allis CD, Hunt DF. 2004. Characterization of phosphorylation sites on histone H1 isoforms by tandem mass spectrometry. J Proteome Res. 3:1219-1227
- 167. Misteli T, Gunjan A, Hock R, Bustin M, Brown DT. 2000. Dynamic binding of histone H1 to chromatin in living cells. Nature. 408:877-881
- 168. Lever MA, Th'ng JP, Sun X, Hendzel MJ. 2000. Rapid exchange of histone H1.1 on chromatin in living human cells. Nature. 408:873-876

- 169. Catez F, Brown DT, Misteli T, Bustin M. 2002. Competition between histoneH1 and HMGN proteins for chromatin binding sites. EMBO Rep. 3:760-766
- 170. Catez F, Yang H, Tracey KJ, Reeves R, Misteli T, Bustin M. 2004. Network of dynamic interactions between histone H1 and high-mobility-group proteins in chromatin. Mol Cell Biol. 24:4321-4328
- 171. Krishnakumar R, Kraus WL. 2010. PARP-1 regulates chromatin structure and transcription through a KDM5B-dependent pathway. Mol Cell. 39:736-749
- 172. Jerzmanowski A. 1986. [Role of histone H1 in the structure of chromosomes].Postepy Biochem. 32:97-128
- Shukla MS, Syed SH, Goutte-Gattat D, Richard JL, Montel F, Hamiche A, Travers A, Faivre-Moskalenko C, Bednar J, Hayes JJ, Angelov D, Dimitrov
  S. 2011. The docking domain of histone H2A is required for H1 binding and RSC-mediated nucleosome remodeling. Nucleic Acids Res. 39:2559-2570
- 174. Braunschweig U, Hogan GJ, Pagie L, van Steensel B. 2009. Histone H1 binding is inhibited by histone variant H3.3. EMBO J. 28:3635-3645
- Hendzel MJ, Lever MA, Crawford E, Th'ng JP. 2004. The C-terminal domain is the primary determinant of histone H1 binding to chromatin in vivo. J Biol Chem. 279:20028-20034
- 176. Caterino TL, Fang H, Hayes JJ. 2011. Nucleosome linker DNA contacts and induces specific folding of the intrinsically disordered H1 carboxyl-terminal domain. Mol Cell Biol. 31:2341-2348

- Woodcock CL, Skoultchi AI, Fan Y. 2006. Role of linker histone in chromatin structure and function: H1 stoichiometry and nucleosome repeat length.
   Chromosome Res. 14:17-25
- 178. Eitoku M, Sato L, Senda T, Horikoshi M. 2008. Histone chaperones: 30 years from isolation to elucidation of the mechanisms of nucleosome assembly and disassembly. Cell Mol Life Sci. 65:414-444
- 179. Das C, Tyler JK, Churchill ME. 2010. The histone shuffle: histone chaperones in an energetic dance. Trends Biochem Sci. 35:476-489
- Rocha W, Verreault A. 2008. Clothing up DNA for all seasons: Histone chaperones and nucleosome assembly pathways. FEBS Lett. 582:1938-1949
- Sneppen K, Dodd IB. 2012. A simple histone code opens many paths to epigenetics. PLoS Comput Biol. 8:e1002643
- Bowman GD. 2010. Mechanisms of ATP-dependent nucleosome sliding. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 20:73-81
- 183. Kutney SN, Hong R, Macfarlan T, Chakravarti D. 2004. A signaling role of histone-binding proteins and INHAT subunits pp32 and Set/TAF-Ibeta in integrating chromatin hypoacetylation and transcriptional repression. J Biol Chem. 279:30850-30855
- 184. McBryant SJ, Lu X, Hansen JC. 2010. Multifunctionality of the linker
   histones: an emerging role for protein-protein interactions. Cell Res. 20:519-528
- 185. Kato K, Okuwaki M, Nagata K. 2011. Role of Template Activating Factor-I as a chaperone in linker histone dynamics. J Cell Sci. 124:3254-3265

- Davis RH, Perkins DD. 2002. Timeline: Neurospora: a model of model microbes. Nat Rev Genet. 3:397-403
- 187. Davis RH. 2000. Neurospora : Contributions of a Model Organism.
- 188. Sasaki T, Lynch KL, Mueller CV, Friedman S, Freitag M, Lewis ZA. 2014. Heterochromatin controls gammaH2A localization in Neurospora crassa. Eukaryot Cell.
- 189. Biss M, Hanna MD, Xiao W. 2014. Isolation of yeast nucleic acids. Methods Mol Biol. 1163:15-21
- 190. Brown AJ. 1996. Preparation of total RNA. Methods Mol Biol. 53:269-276
- 191. Moore D. 2001. Purification and concentration of DNA from aqueous solutions.Curr Protoc Immunol. Chapter 10:Unit 10 11
- 192. Lantermann A, Stralfors A, Fagerstrom-Billai F, Korber P, Ekwall K. 2009.
   Genome-wide mapping of nucleosome positions in Schizosaccharomyces pombe.
   Methods. 48:218-225
- 193. Trapnell C, Roberts A, Goff L, Pertea G, Kim D, Kelley DR, Pimentel H, Salzberg SL, Rinn JL, Pachter L. 2012. Differential gene and transcript expression analysis of RNA-seq experiments with TopHat and Cufflinks. Nat Protoc. 7:562-578
- 194. Goecks J, Nekrutenko A, Taylor J, Galaxy T. 2010. Galaxy: a comprehensive approach for supporting accessible, reproducible, and transparent computational research in the life sciences. Genome Biol. 11:R86

- 195. Blankenberg D, Von Kuster G, Coraor N, Ananda G, Lazarus R, Mangan M, Nekrutenko A, Taylor J. 2010. Galaxy: a web-based genome analysis tool for experimentalists. Curr Protoc Mol Biol. Chapter 19:Unit 19 10 11-21
- 196. Giardine B, Riemer C, Hardison RC, Burhans R, Elnitski L, Shah P, Zhang Y, Blankenberg D, Albert I, Taylor J, Miller W, Kent WJ, Nekrutenko A.
  2005. Galaxy: a platform for interactive large-scale genome analysis. Genome Res. 15:1451-1455
- 197. Thorvaldsdottir H, Robinson JT, Mesirov JP. 2013. Integrative Genomics Viewer (IGV): high-performance genomics data visualization and exploration. Brief Bioinform. 14:178-192
- 198. Robinson JT, Thorvaldsdottir H, Winckler W, Guttman M, Lander ES, Getz
  G, Mesirov JP. 2011. Integrative genomics viewer. Nat Biotechnol. 29:24-26
- R Development Core Team. 2010. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing.
- Zlatanova J, Caiafa P, Van Holde K. 2000. Linker histone binding and displacement: versatile mechanism for transcriptional regulation. FASEB J. 14:1697-1704
- 201. Vujatovic O, Zaragoza K, Vaquero A, Reina O, Bernues J, Azorin F. 2012. Drosophila melanogaster linker histone dH1 is required for transposon silencing and to preserve genome integrity. Nucleic Acids Res. 40:5402-5414
- 202. Zhang Y, Liu Z, Medrzycki M, Cao K, Fan Y. 2012. Reduction of Hox gene expression by histone H1 depletion. PLoS One. 7:e38829

- 203. Nishiyama M, Skoultchi AI, Nakayama KI. 2012. Histone H1 recruitment by CHD8 is essential for suppression of the Wnt-beta-catenin signaling pathway. Mol Cell Biol. 32:501-512
- 204. Thorvaldsdottir H, Robinson JT, Mesirov JP. 2012. Integrative Genomics
   Viewer (IGV): high-performance genomics data visualization and exploration.
   Brief Bioinform.
- 205. Henry C, Mouyna I, Latge JP. 2007. Testing the efficacy of RNA interference constructs in Aspergillus fumigatus. Curr Genet. **51**:277-284
- 206. Schilling B, Linden RM, Kupper U, Lerch K. 1992. Expression of Neurospora crassa laccase under the control of the copper-inducible metallothioneinpromoter. Curr Genet. 22:197-203
- Berretta J, Morillon A. 2009. Pervasive transcription constitutes a new level of eukaryotic genome regulation. EMBO Rep. 10:973-982
- 208. Li B, Gogol M, Carey M, Pattenden SG, Seidel C, Workman JL. 2007. Infrequently transcribed long genes depend on the Set2/Rpd3S pathway for accurate transcription. Genes Dev. 21:1422-1430
- 209. Cheung V, Chua G, Batada NN, Landry CR, Michnick SW, Hughes TR, Winston F. 2008. Chromatin- and transcription-related factors repress transcription from within coding regions throughout the Saccharomyces cerevisiae genome. PLoS Biol. 6:e277
- Smolle M, Workman JL. 2012. Transcription-associated histone modifications and cryptic transcription. Biochim Biophys Acta.

- 211. Sultan M, Dokel S, Amstislavskiy V, Wuttig D, Sultmann H, Lehrach H, Yaspo ML. 2012. A simple strand-specific RNA-Seq library preparation protocol combining the Illumina TruSeq RNA and the dUTP methods. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 422:643-646
- 212. Levin JZ, Yassour M, Adiconis X, Nusbaum C, Thompson DA, Friedman N, Gnirke A, Regev A. 2010. Comprehensive comparative analysis of strandspecific RNA sequencing methods. Nat Methods. 7:709-715
- 213. Kamieniarz K, Izzo A, Dundr M, Tropberger P, Ozretic L, Kirfel J, Scheer E, Tropel P, Wisniewski JR, Tora L, Viville S, Buettner R, Schneider R.
  2012. A dual role of linker histone H1.4 Lys 34 acetylation in transcriptional activation. Genes Dev. 26:797-802
- 214. Bonet-Costa C, Vilaseca M, Diema C, Vujatovic O, Vaquero A, Omenaca N, Castejon L, Bernues J, Giralt E, Azorin F. 2012. Combined bottom-up and top-down mass spectrometry analyses of the pattern of post-translational modifications of Drosophila melanogaster linker histone H1. J Proteomics. 75:4124-4138
- Shechter D, Dormann HL, Allis CD, Hake SB. 2007. Extraction, purification and analysis of histones. Nat Protoc. 2:1445-1457
- 216. Hammond TM, Xiao H, Rehard DG, Boone EC, Perdue TD, Pukkila PJ, Shiu PK. 2011. Fluorescent and bimolecular-fluorescent protein tagging of genes at their native loci in Neurospora crassa using specialized double-joint PCR plasmids. Fungal Genet Biol. 48:866-873

## 217. Golemis EA, Serebriiskii I, Finley RL, Jr., Kolonin MG, Gyuris J, Brent R. 2011. Interaction trap/two-hybrid system to identify interacting proteins. Curr Protoc Cell Biol. Chapter 17:Unit 17 13